
Because there are more than

23,000,000 patients suffering

from cancer worldwide… 



…Celgene Corporation and its 703 employees are working relentlessly to provide solutions for

unmet medical needs in cancer, and for debilitating inflammatory diseases. In fact, there are

223 ongoing clinical trials at major medical centers worldwide using innovative compounds

from Celgene including:  THALOMID® (thalidomide), REVLIMID™, ACTIMID™ and others. These

promising drugs represent three of the 17 high-potential compounds in our rich product

pipeline. The objective of these drugs is to address immediate medical needs of patients with

incurable cancers, including multiple myeloma, myelodysplastic syndromes, melanoma,

glioblastoma, renal cell carcinoma and prostate cancer. 

In total, 99,000 patients have received the clinical benefit of our innovative flagship 

product, THALOMID, through our patented S.T.E.P.S.® delivery program. Designed for the safe

distribution of THALOMID, S.T.E.P.S. (System for Thalidomide Education and Prescribing Safety)

involves multiple issued and pending patents which are part of a broad and expanding global

intellectual property estate of 830 pending and issued patents. 

Enthusiasm for THALOMID usage has been driven by multiple peer-reviewed 

publications, presentations at major medical meetings, and inclusion of the drug in the

National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines for myeloma therapy. 

Based largely on THALOMID sales, we generated more than $271 million in revenues in 2003,

delivered our first full-year positive earnings, and reinvested 45% of our total revenues into

accelerated R&D programs. Our immediate focus in these programs is on achieving approval

and commercialization of our lead investigational drug, REVLIMID. At the center of this 

opportunity are people, patients, partners, providers and pipeline — all of which add up to 

One Company, One Celgene making potentially life-saving new treatments a reality for the 

millions of patients around the world fighting cancer and other debilitating diseases.

One Company — One Celgene
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23,000,000 patients with cancer worldwide

864,000 patients with blood cancers worldwide

99,000 patients treated through S.T.E.P.S.® program

830 issued and pending Celgene patents

703 number of Celgene employees

400 million dollar convertible financing

271 million dollars in total revenue

223 clinical trials worldwide

45 percent of revenue invested in R&D

19 percent of THALOMID® patients in TAP

17 products in Celgene pipeline

1 company

Building on 
       Success
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Cancer. Few words stir as much dread in the imagination.

Perhaps this is because nearly every family in the United

States has been affected by this terrible disease. Roughly

1.2 million new cases of cancer are diagnosed each year

in the U.S., and a staggering number of people — about

550,000 — die from cancer-related causes annually. To 

put things into perspective, on a typical day in America,

about 3,500 people will be diagnosed with cancer, and

another 1,500 people will die from it. Worldwide, some

11.2 million new cases of cancer are diagnosed each

year, making this disease an increasing reality.

Until recently, this most feared of diagnoses was

rightly viewed as a death sentence. Now there is hope,

as researchers from major cancer centers around the

world focus on new drugs like our lead investigational

compounds — THALOMID®, REVLIMID™ and ACTIMID™

— to develop safer, more effective and longer-lasting 

treatment regimens for hematological and solid tumor

cancers. The task is made all the more urgent by the

aging of the global population, which is pushing the

prevalence of cancer higher than ever before.

At Celgene, these millions of new and existing cancer

patients are why we do what we do and why we are so

committed to pursuing and accelerating the development

of our rich portfolio of preclinical, early-stage and late-stage

investigational agents. Leveraging our growing knowledge

of the biology behind hematological and solid tumor 

cancers, we are focusing on a range of therapeutic 

programs designed to attack the disease source through

multiple mechanisms of action and intracellular pathways.

These exciting ongoing programs include our kinase

inhibitors, ligase modulators, benzopyrans, tubulin

inhibitors and stem cells.

The kinase inhibitors are oral cancer drugs 

designed to bind to and block the activity of gene-

regulating kinases. In this way, the drugs inhibit 

the ability of kinase proteins to turn on specific genes

that cause or contribute to diseases. Our novel ligase

modulators, such as the E3 ligases, are compounds

developed to modulate other key classes of cell-

signaling proteins. The benzopyrans, such as our 

CC-8490, are oral compounds which are anti-proliferative

and can induce apoptosis (cell death) in preclinical 

models of cancer. The tubulin inhibitors, our most 

recent proprietary program, are agents which in 

preclinical models have demonstrated activity 

against drug-resistant cancer cells, inhibition 

of inflammatory cytokines and anti-angiogenic 

activity. In addition, our proprietary placentally-

derived stem cells, may have a myriad of healthcare

applications. Our objective is to develop and 

commercialize these innovative therapeutic 

approaches that will help to transform cancer into 

a disease that either is completely curable or is 

manageable with minimal effects on the quality 

and duration of the patient’s life. 

We are already pursuing this goal in our work 

with THALOMID, REVLIMID, ACTIMID and our most

recent addition to the IMiD™ pipeline, CC-11006. The 

IMiD compounds are derivatives of THALOMID that 

are chemically modified, with improved attributes. 

We believe that IMiD cancer drugs may be used 

at different stages of the disease process and in 

combination with other drugs, or each other, to provide

physicians and patients a variety of effective tools 

for long-term cancer management. 
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Why We Do What We Do
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Cancer Product Pipeline

ALKERAN®: Multiple Myeloma/Ovarian Cancer

THALOMID® Multiple Myeloma

THALOMID Prostate

THALOMID Melanoma

THALOMID Other Cancers

REVLIMID™: Multiple Myeloma (SPA)

REVLIMID: Solid Tumors

REVLIMID: Multiple Myeloma 

REVLIMID: MDS

REVLIMID: MDS 5q minus

Focalin™: Cancer Fatigue

Benzopyrans CC-8490: Glioblastoma

JNK: Cancer/Inflammation

Ligases

Tubulin Inhibitors

Our experience in developing THALOMID is providing 

a detailed roadmap for the clinical development of the

promising IMiDs category. That said, Celgene continues

to accelerate its investment in multiple late-stage clinical

trials of REVLIMID and ACTIMID in hematological and

solid tumor cancers. Late last year, for example, Celgene

announced that it had advanced the development of ACTIMID

as a potential therapy for prostate cancer. A Phase I/II

multi-center, two-stage, open-label trial is investigating

the safety and efficacy of ACTIMID as a single agent in

hormone-refractory prostate cancer patients. 

At Celgene, our scientists continue to discover and

develop novel classes of drugs that may one day, either

alone or in combination, be able to attack cancer early in

the disease process and stop it in its tracks. For the millions

of patients who suffer from cancer and the millions more

who love and depend on them, Celgene will maintain its

unwavering commitment to transform hope into reality.

Filing/MarketPhase IIIPhase IIPhase IPreclinical



864,000
patients with blood cancers worldwide 

with limited therapeutic opportunities

Among the cancers with the most rapidly rising 

incidence worldwide are those that affect the active

components of the blood. 

Celgene is targeting blood cancers with 

THALOMID® and with its lead investigational

Immunomodulatory Drugs (IMiDs™), REVLIMID™ and

ACTIMID™. In 2003, REVLIMID received a Fast Track

Designation from the FDA for the treatment of both 

multiple myeloma and the malignant blood cell disorders

known as myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) — MDS

affects approximately 300,000 people worldwide. 

In February 2004, the FDA agreed to review Celgene’s

supplemental New Drug Application (sNDA) for 

formal regulatory approval to market THALOMID 

for multiple myeloma. 

Promising data from ongoing clinical trials of

THALOMID and the two IMiDs have been reported at

major medical meetings; the trials are evaluating the

drugs in the treatment of a broad range of conditions,

including MDS, multiple myeloma and solid tumor cancers. 

Notably, at the 45th Annual Meeting of the American

Society of Hematology (ASH) in December 2003,

researchers presented 128 abstracts reporting recent

and ongoing clinical data for Celgene’s lead commercial

and investigational products, of which fifty-six abstracts

were related to clinical trials of THALOMID in newly 

diagnosed and all stages of multiple myeloma. Other

abstracts provided data on THALOMID as a single-

agent therapy and combination therapy for multiple 

hematological cancers and malignant blood disorders. 
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At ASH, researchers also presented data evaluating

REVLIMID as a therapy for patients with refractory or

relapsed multiple myeloma. The data indicated that

91% of evaluable patients achieved stabilization of 

disease or better. 

Dr. Alan List, Professor of Medicine and Program

Leader for Hematologic Malignancies at Moffitt Cancer

Center, Tampa, Florida, reported encouraging results

from clinical studies of REVLIMID as a novel approach

for treating patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. 

In this study, greater than 60% of patients responding 

to REVLIMID were able to forgo the debilitating and 

costly blood transfusions that are the current treatment

for these malignant disorders of blood cell production. In

MDS patients with a specific chromosomal abnormality

(5q minus), more than 85% of patients had complete 

histological and cytogenetic normalization. This result 

is unprecedented in the treatment of myeloproliferative

disorders. REVLIMID is believed to affect multiple 

biological pathways within the cell, which ultimately 

may be responsible for the clinical response observed 

in the MDS and multiple myeloma studies.

Positive clinical results for ACTIMID were also 

presented at ASH. Among patients with relapsed/

refractory multiple myeloma who received the drug, 

93% of those who were evaluable achieved stabilization

of disease or better. 

With its IMiD class of drugs, Celgene has accepted

the challenge of turning adversity into opportunity and

hope for patients worldwide suffering from malignant

blood disorders, who today have limited effective 

treatment options. 

REVLIMID has the potential to transform Celgene

and be part of a new standard of care for patients 

worldwide battling hematological cancers. To achieve

full regulatory approval for REVLIMID, Celgene is 

conducting an ongoing pivotal Phase III Special Protocol

Assessment trial of the drug in multiple myeloma. 

In addition, Celgene initiated three clinical trials in the

summer of 2003 — one in multiple myeloma and two 

in MDS — that have the potential to accelerate 

regulatory approval for REVLIMID. If compelling data are

obtained, these Phase II trials would enable patients to

access the potential clinical benefits of REVLIMID sooner,

and they also would enable Celgene to begin realizing

the commercial potential of REVLIMID ahead of the

planned schedule. REVLIMID, both in multiple myeloma

and MDS, received orphan drug and fast track status

from the FDA, and recently received orphan drug status

from the European Commission. At the end of 2003, all 

of these key REVLIMID trials remained on or ahead of

their planned patient accrual timelines. The target for

regulatory review and approval is late 2005.

We anticipate that the blood cancers, which 

damage and destroy so many lives, will continue to 

be an important focus for Celgene as we harness our

innovative products to increase patients’ chances for

longer-term health and survival. At Celgene, there is 

no higher priority than the accelerated approval of

potential life-saving drugs like REVLIMID. 

Building on 
       Success
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Since its inception,

nearly 100,000 individuals 

have taken advantage of 

Celgene’s innovative S.T.E.P.S.®

program in order to safely receive 

the potential therapeutic benefits of 

THALOMID®. Most were patients being treated for cancer

and being prescribed THALOMID as a result of the mounting

body of peer-reviewed clinical data from hundreds of

clinical studies and publications like the Journal of

Clinical Oncology and inclusion in the National

Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines. 

THALOMID is currently in FDA review for formal approval

as a treatment for multiple myeloma. Studies in a variety

of other cancer indications are continuing.

Out of potential adversity, Celgene created opportunity.

To address this problem and ensure the safe distribution

of THALOMID to patients who could benefit, Celgene

joined with experts from a variety of disciplines to 

create S.T.E.P.S., the System for Thalidomide Education

and Prescribing Safety. It was the first, and remains 

the only, patented and FDA-approved closed-loop 

pharmaceutical delivery program. S.T.E.P.S. is protected

by multiple issued and pending patents with long 

remaining lives and therefore THALOMID as the label

exists today is protected by broad patents contained 

in the product label. S.T.E.P.S. involves patients, 

prescribers and pharmacists. Celgene immunology 

specialists support all participants in the program on 

a regular basis to assure compliance, and S.T.E.P.S. 

can serve as a blueprint for the appropriate safe 

distribution of any pharmaceutical that offers important

clinical benefits but has serious side effects. The industry-

leading S.T.E.P.S. program ensures that THALOMID is 

appropriately distributed, but it also supports patient 

care by permitting real-time interventions, and it 

maximizes compliance through a broad network of 

specialists in the field. 

Celgene is proud that its proprietary S.T.E.P.S. 

program is making it possible for so many people 

with serious diseases like cancer to have access 

to THALOMID, and when appropriate we will work

with other drug manufacturers to make the benefits 

of S.T.E.P.S. more widely available to help patients

in need.

Building on 
       Success

THALOMID® Oncology Use

71% Multiple Myeloma

9% Other

6% Renal Cell

5% MDS

4% Brain

3% Melanoma

2% Prostate

Source: S.T.E.P.S. data
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830
issued and pending patents representing 

an ever-expanding broad, deep and 

diverse Intellectual Patent estate
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Patents are essential to the economic health and 

innovative vitality of the biotechnology and pharmaceutical

industries, and Celgene has been aggressive in building

an expanding, deep and diverse intellectual property

portfolio. By the end of 2003, Celgene had amassed 

830 issued and pending patents worldwide. The patents

cover a wide variety of areas across multiple discovery

and regulatory programs. Those areas include, but are

not limited to, composition of matter, pharmaceutical

composition, process, methods of treatment, screening

methodology, methods of business and diagnostics. 

We believe that this sizeable patent estate gives us an

important global competitive advantage as we continue

to develop and commercialize our broad class of IMiDs™

and our deep pipeline of SelCIDs™, benzopyrans, kinase

inhibitors, ligase modulators, tubulin inhibitors and 

placental stem cells. But we are not stopping here. 

We are continuing to expand our patent portfolio as 

we add new compounds to our pipeline that encompass

a variety of novel scientific targets and approaches.

Celgene’s strong intellectual property position is an

important element in its strategy to develop its 

product and business assets to their fullest potential 

for its shareholders. 

In 2003, Celgene obtained valuable patents for its

proprietary S.T.E.P.S.® program, fortifying its THALOMID®

franchise. S.T.E.P.S. is designed as a blueprint for 

delivering pharmaceutical products to patients that offer

life-saving or other important therapeutic benefits, but

have potentially serious side effects. Under the S.T.E.P.S.

program, generic substitution is not permitted. The

S.T.E.P.S. intellectual property estate now includes 

multiple issued and pending U.S. patents covering 

methods of delivering drugs (including THALOMID) in a

manner that aims at significantly decreasing the risks of

adverse events. The two most recent patents substantially

expand the scope of coverage of the previously issued

patents. Beyond S.T.E.P.S., THALOMID has additional

broad patents covering methods of use to treat 

inflammation and cancer diseases. 

In 2003, Celgene demonstrated additional evidence

of its leadership in obtaining valuable patents with 

the issuance of multiple fundamental U.S. patents 

containing broad claims for kinase inhibitors. Celgene

presently has a significant holding in the private 

intellectual property in the world for kinase inhibitors,

and it dominates the JNK portion of the kinase field 

with 17 issued or pending patents. The JNK gene 

regulation pathway has been shown to play a pivotal 

role in the onset and progression of several significant

human diseases.

We believe that our 830 patents and patent applications

constitute one of the most potentially valuable patent

portfolios in the biopharmaceutical industry. This 

portfolio is a major advantage for Celgene shareholders.

Especially as additional patents are added, we expect

the portfolio of our proprietary compounds to increase 

in value as they progress through drug development

towards commercialization.

Building on 
       Success
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What is it that defines Celgene? Is it our unique products

and our innovative approach to treating disease? Is it our

cutting-edge research addressing the source of disease?

Our growing reputation as an important contributor to

medical progress? Our commitment to healthcare

providers and compassion for their patients? While each

of these factors contributes in significant ways to what

Celgene is, they represent only part of the story.

Most fundamentally, Celgene is its employees —

now more than 700 strong — who are focused on the

single mission of delivering innovative therapies to

patients with unmet medical

needs in cancer and 

inflammatory diseases. 

And what a unique group 

of talented people they 

are, including scientists,

sales representatives, 

engineers, physicians, 

pharmacists, marketing

staff, regulatory experts,

accounting and finance

personnel, clinical scientists, drug safety specialists,

pharmaceutical information specialists, clinical science

liasons and human resource managers. As different as

each of these positions and the individuals who hold

them are, they are united in their commitment to discover,

develop and market life-enhancing drugs that make a

measurable difference in the lives of millions of people.

Our 703 employees are in the right place, at the right

time, doing the right things, to build on the Company’s

scientific and commercial achievements.

Celgene has been fortunate to attract employees 

of the highest caliber since its earliest days. More

recently, as our rapid commercial growth has required

the acquisition of specialized skills, we have benefited

from the increased availability of highly trained and 

qualified individuals as a result of consolidation in the 

pharmaceutical industry. We are gratified that these 

individual have decided to build their careers at 

Celgene. We believe that our ongoing success will

enable us to maintain this extraordinary level of 

commitment and to continue to attract the best people 

at every level of the organization.

Building on 
       Success
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Employee Growth



SASCHA ABRAMSON • EDWIN ABREW • NURY ACOSTA • HOLLY ADAMSKI • DAISY AGUILERA • DONNA ALEXANDER • ANISSA ANDERSON • CECILIA ARANGO • MEENAKSHI ARUNACHALAM • CHRISTOPHER ATKINS • SANDRA AUBUCHON • MAHAN ABBASIAN

• LUMA ABDELSHAHID • RONALD ALBERS • CHRISTINE ALWARD • LETICIA AYALA • ROGELIO BABOL • CAROL BAINBRIDGE • JANE BAINBRIDGE • AGATA BAJDAS • TADEUSZ BAJDAS • JULIE BAKER • KATHE BALINSKI • SOL BARER • VINCENT BARILLA • JILL

BARNETT • HENRY BARRAGAN • J. BLAKE BARTLETT • LISA BASTEDO • MARK BAUER • TARA BAYLIS • DOUGLAS BEACH • NEDA BELL • YOLANDA BELL • PETER BELTRAN • CHRISTINE BERGER • AWILDA BERNARD • HARRIET BERTUCCI • JOANNE BEYER •

MOHIT BHATIA • R. LARRY BISHOP • KELLY BLACKWELL • MARGARET BLACKWOOD • JAIME BLAUVELT • ELLEN BOHANAN • NORA BOLGER • TIMIKA BONDS • TONI BONDS • KIRSTEN BONESTEEL • JOAN BOSCH • JENNIFER BOSCHEN • SHARON BOURKE •

CANDEE BRADLEY • JUSTIN BREEN • ROBERT BROACH • HENRY BROCK • LINDSAY BROCKWAY • THERESA BROGAN • BEVERLY BROWN • FRANCIS BROWN • NEKIKI BROWN • VALENTIN BUKKI • DAVID BULLOCK • LINNIE BURNEY • RANDON BURR • GRAHAM

BURTON • JENNIFER BUSCH • JAYNE BUTLER • CATRIONA BYRNE • DARIUS BABUSIS • FRANS BACULI • ROBERT BATES • BRENT BENISH • BRYDON BENNETT • SHRIPAD BHAGWAT • KATE BLEASE • KIRSTEN BLUMEYER • MICHAEL BOLURO-AJAYI • HELEN

BRADY • MAI CALDWELL • LORRAINE CAMBRIA • LOUISE CAMERON • VICKI CAMPBELL • DONALD CARLBERG • LAWRENCE CARROLL • YADIRA CARTER • SANDRA CASNER • BRUCE CASSAMAJOR • THOMAS CAVANAUGH • DOROTA CEDZIK • CHRISTIE CELLI

• DEBRA CHEDEL • ROGER CHEN • YONG CHEN • CYNTHIA CHRYSTAL • ERICA CICHLAR • LIONEL CLARKE • JANINE CLOUTIER • VINCENT COCILOVO • CATHY COLE-ZAPPIA • LAUREN COLLINS • MICHAEL CONROY • ALYSE COOPER • PHALU CORNWELL • KRYSTI-

NA COX • MICHAEL COX • LAUREN CROSS • LAUREN CROSS • HANAN CRUTCHFIELD • JASON CUNNINGHAM • KORNELIA CZIPA • LAURIE CAIN • GILLES CARMEL • ALZIRA CARVALHO • JUAN CASTRO • BRIAN CATHERS • MARIA CELERIDAD • HENRY CHAN •

KYLE CHAN • STEVEN CLAREEN • CHRISTOPHER CLINE • LAURA CORRAL • MATHEW CORREA • LINDA COWAN • SARAH COX • PAUL D’ANGIO • DWIGHT D’IORIO • NEIL D’SIDOCKY • ANN DADAIAN • MALIKATU DANCE • KELLY DARRAH • PETER DATES • SHARON

DAVIDSON • JOSEPH DAY, JR. • MARK DEIBERT • NICHOLAS DEL MEDICO • DENA DEMARCO • DAVID DENNIS • LAURE DE PARSEVAL • JEROME DERMON • LISA DESNOYERS • DAWN DEVORE • ERNESTO DIAZ • SALVACION DIAZ • NOVELLA DICKENS • ROBERT

DOEHNER • JACQUELINE DOS SANTOS • JOSEPH DOSSANTOS • DENISE DREIER • RICHARD DREYER • JAMES DRONEY • JAMES DAMIAN • CARRIE DENIKE • MARIA DELGADO MEDEROS • KELILA DUNCAN • JEANETTE DUNSTER • NORMA EDOM • SHERI ELLIS

• MOSHE ELROM • VICTORIA EMANUEL • DONALD ERIKSON • ANDRE ETTIENNE • NATHAN ELLER • BRUCE ENNIS • PAUL ERDMAN • KEVIN ERICSON • CHRISTINA EZELL • JOSEPH FADOJUTIMI • HERBERT FALECK • ROBERT FALTAS • ZHIHUA FAN • AMY FASE

• CHRISTINE FASSANO • JENNIFER FEINBERG • BARNETT FEINGOLD • JOELLEN FETTE • SVETLANA FIDLER • EILEEN FINNEGAN • JENNIFER FLYNN • NANCY FOLEY • BARBARA FORREST • SUZIE FORTIN • LISSETTE FRAGOSO • DONALD FRANCE • TWYLA FRAN-

CO • JUI-HSIANG FAN • MICHAEL FIEDLER • GLENN FRIEDMAN • KIMBERLY FULTZ • SUNIL GAIKWAD • ADRIANA GALLEGO • MELISSA GALLMANN • ANITA GANDHI • CHUANSHENG GE • DONNA GESUMARIA • BRADLEY GEVING • NICHOLAS GIARRITTA • BRIAN

GILL • RICHARD GIRARDS JR • SILVIA GLORIA • DIANNE GONICHELIS • LILLIAN GONZALEZ • CHRIS GOODMAN • JOANNA GORDON • KARA GRASSO • ANGELIQUE GRAZIANO • COLLEEN GREENBERG • DAWN GRIER • HELEN GRUTZKA • JODI GURNEY • JAMES

GAMEZ • KAMRAN GHOREISHI • SUTAPA GHOSH • DAVID GIEGEL • EMILIA GLEZER • BRADLEY GORDON • ARLENE HAJINLIAN • MICHAEL HALL • STACY HALL-DIOP • DANEASHA HANCOCK • ROBERT HARIRI • MARGARET HARRISON • CYNTHIA HARTUNG •

MICHAEL HAUSMANN • PATRICIA HAWLEY • LISA HAZELRIGS • ANNE HEALY • CHRISTINA HELMS • MELISSA HENDERSON • STACY HERB • LEONARD HERNANDEZ • MARY HOFFMAN • MARIANNE HOLIAN • TRACY HOLLIMAN • DEBRA HOYER • ILONA HRICZO

• TINA HRICZO • REBECCA HUFFMAN • ROBERT HUGIN • AGNIESZKA HUK • MIROSLAW HUK • JESSICA HURSEY • TODD HYDE • JASON HAELEWYN • ROY HARRIS • SAYEE HEGDE • JENNIFER HENSEL • MATTHEW HICKMAN • ROBERT HILGRAF • WEI-YI HONG

• XUEQUN HUA • KEVIN HUGHES • SEAN INGOLD • JOHN JACKSON • MARJORIE JACKSON • MARY-LOU JACKSON • MONICA JACOB • STEPHEN JASKO • MARKIAN JAWORSKY • LARRY JENSEN • LINDA JENSEN • MARION JENSEN • FRANCOISE JEROME •

TSAIFANG JIANG • BRIGITTE JOHNSON • LORI JONES • DANIELLE JORGE • SHIRLENE JOSEPH • KRISTEN JENSEN-PERGAKES • MARILYN JONES • JOSEPH KAMINSKI • JIAN KANG • ALEKSANDR KAPLUNOVSKY • DEBRA KAPNICK • KATARZYNA KARASIEWICZ

OSTAPOWICZ • KATHERINE OZGA • PAUL OMHOLT • DAVID ORTIZ • TERESA PANCAKE • JENNIFER PAREDES • HEMAKSHI PAREKH-GULATI • NIRALI PARIKH • SANG-WOOK PARK • MEGAN PARSI • ANASTASIA PARTON • MARIA PASQUALE • AKASH PATEL •

ASHISH PATEL • SHVETA PATEL • SMITA PATEL • MANOHAR PATIL • JOHN PATIN • SHERYL PAULSON • FARIBOURZ PAYVANDI • CATHERINE PEGRAM • ELIZABETH PENSABENE • ANGELA PERAFAN • CAROL PETERMAN • LAWRENCE PFLUM • ELIZABETH PICHEA

• BETH PIEKARCZYK • JUDITH PITHA • TONJA POINSETTE • PATRICIA PRETARA • BETTY PRICE • CAROL PRICE • GEORGE PSARRAS • GARRICK PACKARD • SHOLITA PACKER • SEEMA PAI • MOORTHY PALANKI • PATRICK PAPA • JASON PARNES • PALKA PATEL

• NANDITA PATNAIK • SOPHIE PERRIN-NINKOVIC • STEVEN PIERCE • VERONIQUE PLANTEVIN- KRENITSKY • AARON PRIEST • JACQUELYN QUAN • CURTIS QUIGLEY • MARY-PAT QUINN • DARNELL RAGLAND • DEREK RAGUSA • LAKSHMI RAMANATHAN • RADHA

RAMESH • INGRID RAMIREZ • HEMLATA RANA • LI REN • KENNETH RESZTAK • MAGDALENA REYES • LATOYA RICE • MELIXZZA RIOS • MARY RIVARD • JANEL RIVELY • CARMEN RIVERA • JAIMMIE RIVERA • RAYNA ROBB • BEVERLY ROBINSON • WAYNE ROBIN-

SON • ROSE ROGAN • MARK ROGERS • MICHELLE ROGERS • PATRICIA ROHANE • DOUGLAS ROHRING • PAULINA ROJAS • TERRA ROMAN • CINDY ROOT • MARTIN ROSE • ELIZABETH ROSS • PETER ROSSI • ROUMEN ROUSSEV • VALENTINA ROUSSEVA • JEF-

FREY ROWELL • ROWENA RUBIO • ALEXANDER RUCHELMAN • DANIELLE RUSSO • MARY ANN RUSZINKO • JULI-ANNE RUTKOWSKI • DEANNA RUTLER • JACLYN RYCHEL • HEATHER RAYMON • PATTY RHODES • NORMAND RICHARD • KEITH ROBY • WILLIAM

ROMANOW • CHRISTINE SADDY • ELIZABETH SAHARIG • MANOHAR SAINDANE • YUSRA SALEH • MARIA LUISA SALOMON • CHAD SAWARD • HEATHER SCALZO • PETER SCHAFER • MICHAEL SCHEFFLER • KEITH SCHEID • AMY SCHMECHEL • DAVID SCHMIDT

• MICHELE SCHMIDT • CHRISTINA SCHMITZ • AMY SCHRADER • HENRY SCHWARZ • KRISTIN SCHWIEGER • THEODORE SEADER • MADHUSUDHAN SEELAM • CATHERINE SEWELL • PARAGINI SHAH • SUMIR SHAH • TRUSHNA SHAH • SHAN SHAO • YOLANDA

SHARP • JENNIFER SHARRETTS • PAMELA SHAVER • LINDA SHINDLER • BANGALORE SHIVAKUMAR • ANNE SHRIVER • KAREN SIMISTER • PAMELA SIMONES • DOROTHY SINGLETARY • MATTHEW SINNOCK • MYRON SIRAGUSA • ERICA SISCO • TRACEY SKIN-

NER • KELLY SMEADER • AMY SMITH • BRETT SMITH • FRANK SMITH • KELLEY ANNE SMITH • KIMBERLY SOLANO • FREDERICK SOLAS • GUADALUPE SOLIS • JOSEPH SONDEJ, JR. • VAISHALI SONI • LUCY SPARACO • PATRICK SPAULDING • WILLIAM SPRUILL

III • SARAH STANLEY MACISAAC • VERNON STEELE • JAMES STEINBERG • BETH STEINBRENNER • ANDREW STEWART • DAVID STIRLING • SHARMAN STOCKSTILL • BHAVANI STOUT • JENNIFER STURM • MEENAKSHI SUBRAMANYAN • JOSEPH SULNER •

YALI SUN • STEVEN SUSZKO • DONNA SUTHERLAND • JAMES SWENSON • DEL SYKES • KIRAN SAHASRABUDHE • STEVEN SAKATA • TERRY SANCHEZ • SABITA SANKAR • RALPH SANTIAGO • JOHN SAPIENZA • YOSHITAKA SATOH • DOMINIQUE SAWKA-

VERHELLE • RAFAEL SENIOR • GRAZIELLA SHEVLIN • MICHAEL SHIRLEY • SPENCER SIMON • MARIANNE SLOSS • RONDA SNOW • SONAL SOJITRA • BERND STEIN • GAIL STOCKTON • ELISE SUDBECK • LISA TAMBONE • STEVEN TEO • FRED THOMAS • STEVE

THOMAS • MARTIN TIGHE • JESSICA TILAK • REBECCA TIMMERMAN • SEAN TISCHLER • SCOTT TOD • PEGGY TODARO • THOMAS TOMAYKO • GRETCHEN TOOLAN • ALANA TORGELSON • CATHERINE TORRES • ALISON TOZER • PATRICE TURGEON-LANES •

YANG TANG • JODY TITUS • MILLER TRAN • TAM TRAN • CAROLINE UNDERWOOD • DANIEL URICK • ABEL VALDEZ • MICHAEL VANDER ZWAN • ANGELY VELEZ • GANESHAN VENKATASUBRAMANIAM • JENNIFER VERDICCHIO • ANITA VERGHESE • ADELE VESSEY

• KISHA VILCEUS • LAURA VINCI • FANNY VOCANSON • MELISSA VOCKE • DOROTHY WADDLETON • MICHAEL WALKER • CAROL WALLING • JIA-LUN WANG • MICHAEL WANG • PTYBERYOUS WANGILA • SHALONDA WARD • HOUSTON WASHINGTON • MARY

WEGER • HEATHER WEIDNER • RICHARD WEINSCHENK • ROBERT WELLS • SUSAN WHALEN • CATHLEEN WILBUR • TIMOTHY WILK • LAURA WILLEY • BENJAMIN WILLINGHAM • MARIA WILMS • JEFFREY WILSON • LAURA WINELAND • JOANNE WINTERS •

EMILY WISSA • JENNIFER WOJTACH • DORIS WONG • WILLIAM WOOLEVER • NANCY WOTANIS • KENTON WRIDE • DENISE WRIGHT • ANFAN WU • JHILI WU • LEI WU • WEI WU • LISA WYNJA • SANDRA WYSZKOWSKI • DUNRUI WANG • YUEDI WANG • DAVID

WEBB • JONATHAN WRIGHT • JUN WU • JEAN XU • WEILIN XIE • LI XU • SHUICHAN XU • WEIMING XU • REGAN YARDLEY • QIAN YE • SONGLING YU • CARLOS YURASZECK • PAMELA YURCISIN • DAVID YOUNG • SUZANNE ZALUTKO • ELIZABETH ZANIN •

ANDREW ZEITLIN • JEROME ZELDIS • HUI NAN ZHANG • LING HUA ZHANG • WEIHONG ZHANG • YAO RONG ZHANG • SIGITA ZIBAS • MOUZETTA ZUMWALT-WEATHERS • PATRICK ZWANCH • JUDITH ZANIPATIN • TRACY ZHAO • JIUYING ZHOU • DAN ZHU

• SANFORD KASTON • VIZIAGIRI KAVURU • GREGORY KAZDOBA • TONI

KEEBLE • CHRISTOPHER KELLER • GREGG KELLY • JENNIFER KENNEDY •

LAURIE KENVIN • VIKRAM KHETANI • MANOOCHEHR KHORSHIDI •

JOSEPH KICA • JENNY KIM • CHRISTINE KINGSLEY • ROBERT KNIGHT •

GHASSAN KODERSHA • WILLIAM KONNECKE • MAXIM KOSOY • MOHIT

KOTHARE • MICHAEL KRENNING • REBECCA KROUSE • LAURIE KUDZMA

• JASON KATZ • GODREJ KHAMBATTA • OLEG KHATSENKO • ADAM KOIS

• STEVEN LABROI • CURTIS LAGASSA • LENORE LAGO • MICHELLE

LAPERRIERE • ROBERT LARSEN • JANICE LARSON • DEBORAH LASALLE

• OSCAR LASKIN • ARTHUR LATHERS III • ERIC LAW • STEPHANIE LEE •

DAVID LEIBOWITZ • STEVEN LERNER • CRAIG LEWIS • JINGYI LI •

WILLIAM LINDEMULDER • BARBARA LINKUS • LUCIEN LIPARI • QING LIU

• WEI LIU • EDWIN LIVINGSTON • ROSEMARIE LOGAN • MELINDA LONG

• LEEZETTE LOPATIC • MALGORZATA LOS • MICHELLE LOVELAND • LING

LU • CHRISTOPHER LUGO • LINDSAY LUKE • DAVID LUSTIG • GREGORY

LYLES • JACQUELINE LAMAY • GISELA LAGOS • VAISHALI LAKHANI •

JAMES LEISTEN • ALAN LEWIS • VICTORIA LEWIS • JIAN LI • STEVE

LILLEGREN • JACQUELINE LINDAHL • JOHN LOGAN • CHRISTIAN

LOMBARDO • ANTONIA LOPEZ-GIRONA • KIEU LY • SUZANNE MACDOW-

ELL • SEAN MAENPAA • ELLYN MAGEE • SAVEERA MAHADEO • MASSI-

MILIANO MALONE • ROSHANNA MALONE • HON-WAH MAN • MELISSA

MANNER • DONALD MANNING • JULIA MARGETTS • NANCY MARQUES

• CYNTHIA MARSHALL • DAVID MARSICO • TIMOTHY MARTINEZ, JR. •

KELLY MARTINSEN • DAVID MARYANSKI • GEORGE MATCHAM • SAN-

DRA MATOS • EILEEN MCCAY • RONALD MCCLELLAN, JR. • ADRIANE

MCCULLAGH • JENNIFER MCMILLAN • AILEEN MCTIERNAN • JENNIFER

MELICK • JAMIE MENARD • LUIS MENDEZ • JOHNATHAN MERLE • KEVIN

MILAZZO • JEFFREY MILLER • SCOTT MILLER • SUSAN MINCHENBERG •

MICHAEL MINNEY • GERALDINE MONACO • LINDA MOORE • YASMEEN

MOORE • GEORGE MULLER • CAROL MURPHY • CAROLYN MURPHY •

PATRICIA MURPHY • LAKSHMI MURTY • JI MA • AFSHIN MAHMOUDI •

STEVE MAU • BENJAMIN MAYES • MARGARET MCCARRICK • ALICE

MCDOUGALL • JEFFREY MCKENNA • JEFFREY MCKIE • JOELLEN

MCQUAID • CELEDONIO MENDEZ • DEREK MENDY • FRANK MERCURIO •

SHAWNEEN MICHAUD • MARJORIE MICHIAELS • MEHRAN

MOGHADDAM • TAWNYA MOLINARI • TRACEY MONTEROSSO •

DEBORAH MORTENSEN • SHAMENE MOYEDA • JESSICA MUELLER •

JEFFREY MUIR • DEBBIE MUNGER • STEPHANIE NATHANSON • ALLA

NAYFELD • KRISTEN NEAVIN • DESIREE NELSON • RICHARD NELSON •

DEBRA NEUBAUER • HAI NGUYEN • TONI NODINE • JOHN NORTHUP •

LISA NADOLNY • SRI NARLA • JENNIFER NASHEED • NAYDA NAVIDA •

DOUGLAS NEAL • LINH NGUYEN • TRACEY-TRANG NGUYEN • TRISH

NGUYEN • CATHERINE O’CONNOR • KATIELYNN O’CONNOR • JOSEPH

O’NEILL • MARTA OLESNYCKYJ • ANITA OLIVER • LIBBY OLIVERA • BEATA

703
committed and dedicated

employees making a 

difference everyday

A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 3 11



12 C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n



A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 3 13

Financial responsibility is a hallmark of Celgene

Corporation. We are proud that we are generating 

increasing revenue and positive earnings, and that we

have accomplished this key objective while accelerating 

R&D investments, maintaining full rights to all of our 

core proprietary  products, and sponsoring therapy

assistance programs for patients in need.  At the same

time, we believe that it is important for the Company to

maintain a strong balance sheet for the flexibility it 

provides and for the opportunity it gives us to expand 

and accelerate the development and commercialization

of our pipeline of promising products.  

On June 3, 2003, Celgene successfully placed 

with qualified institutional buyers $400 million of 

1.75% Convertible Notes due 2008 and having a 50% 

conversion premium. Through this transaction, Celgene

more than doubled its cash, cash equivalents and 

marketable securities which at year-end 2003 totaled 

more than $665 million. Having larger cash reserves

gives us more strategic flexibility and enables us to

invest greater resources in promising technologies and

products that will strategically complement the multiple

high-potential clinical compounds in Celgene’s portfolio.

When issued, Celgene’s convertible note had the lowest

coupon rate and highest conversion premium in the

biotech industry, a strong testimonial to the importance

of our mission and to our people, products and pipeline.

All of these elements contribute to the promise for a

bright future for Celgene. 

Celgene continues to build on a solid financial 

foundation that enables the Company to strategically

accelerate investments in its broad and rich product

pipeline, with the ultimate goal of realizing long-term

potential for its investors and its family of important

stakeholders — patients, employees, healthcare

providers, researchers, partners and regulators. 

Building on 
       Success

“Celgene continues to build on our solid 
financial foundation enabling the company 
to strategically accelerate key investments 
in its broad and rich product pipeline.”

Robert J. Hugin
Chief Financial Officer



The year 2003 marked major milestones for Celgene. 

We reported record revenues of more than $271 million,

doubling our sales from 2002. This success was due to

the talented group of people who make up our world-class

sales and marketing organization—an organization that

continues to be ranked by NFO Healthcare, an indepen-

dent industry resource, as one of the most highly regarded

by healthcare providers. Additionally, we posted our first

full year of positive earnings, thereby securing a mean-

ingful position within the select group of biotechnology

companies achieving sustained and growing profitability. 

THALOMID® was once

again the main driver of 

revenue growth,

thereby contin-

uing to build a

strong founda-

tion for the potential global launch of

REVLIMID™. Underscoring our evolving growth story as a

profitable operating company is the fact that our strong

sales gains last year were supported by other revenue

streams. One such stream came from ALKERAN®, whose

sales we succeeded in increasing during 2003. Celgene

in-licensed this drug for distribution in the U.S. from

GlaxoSmithKline early in the year. The agreement for

ALKERAN, which is used for the treatment of multiple

myeloma, provides us with an approved product that

strengthens our commercial activities. Moreover, this

product complements our near-term clinical candidates

THALOMID and REVLIMID as well as multiple earlier-

stage clinical candidates in our oncology pipeline.

THALOMID is currently in regulatory review at the FDA

for the treatment of multiple myeloma. THALOMID can

cause severe birth defects and must never be taken by

pregnant women. For your health and safety, please

carefully read the materials in the Patient Resource

Pack, including the brochure, Important Information 

for Men and Women Taking THALOMID. Also, be 

sure you understand what your doctor has told 

you about THALOMID. 

Celgene’s revenue growth also benefited from 

growing worldwide sales of the Ritalin® family of 

products by our licensee Novartis. This franchise now

includes a number of formulations of Ritalin and Focalin™

that are approved or in clinical trials for the treatment 

of attention deficit disorder and attention deficit hyper-

activity disorder (ADHD) in children and adolescents.

Focalin is a refined form of Ritalin developed by Celgene

that offers tolerability and dosing advantages over the

parent drug. Celgene receives royalties on sales of the

entire Ritalin family of drugs, as well as a portion of 

the revenue from product sales of Focalin. 

Furthermore, Celgene has retained all rights to

Focalin for oncology-related indications, enabling us 

Building on 
       Success
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271
million dollars in accelerating revenues 

driving profitability, R&D investments, unencumbered pipeline 

and industry leading therapy assistance program

to maximize the full potential of this unique asset. 

We recently completed a double-blinded randomized

placebo-controlled trial evaluating Focalin’s potential 

in the treatment of cancer fatigue associated with

chemotherapy, and based on these results we will 

formulate the appropriate clinical, regulatory and 

commercial strategy. 

To date, Novartis has initiated three new trials —

two pivotal Phase III trials to evaluate the safety and 

efficacy of Focalin LA in adult patients and pediatric

patients aged 6-17; and one clinical trial to evaluate the

efficacy and safety of Ritalin LA extended-release capsules

in girls aged 12-17. The latter study — known as G.R.A.C.E.

(Girls, Ritalin LA and ADHD: A Controlled Evaluation) — 

is the first clinical trial to examine the effects of medica-

tion specifically in females with ADHD. 

The strong and growing revenue base represented

by THALOMID, ALKERAN, Focalin and the Ritalin family

of drugs will provide the financial strength to propel 

the successful development of new products for multiple

indications that Celgene is committed to introduce 

over the next several years.
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223
clinical trials worldwide accurately reflecting

interest and enthusiasm for Celgene drugs

and investigational compounds
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Last year witnessed a substantial increase in clinical 

trials of Celgene products as investigators around the

world evaluated the Company’s compounds in a variety

of treatment regimens for different cancers and inflam-

matory diseases. The result was a surge in worldwide

clinical data reported from 223 studies conducted during

the year. Celgene-sponsored clinical efforts included

multiple late-stage controlled trials for lead oral compounds

THALOMID®, REVLIMID™ and ACTIMID™, as well as early-

stage trials for high-potential candidates CC-10004 

and CC-8490 (from Celgene’s SelCID™ and benzopyran 

programs, respectively).

Focused on accelerating the approval of potential

life-enhancing therapies like REVLIMID, Celgene’s 

team of clinicians successfully advanced pivotal 

Phase III Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) trials 

of REVLIMID in multiple myeloma. (An SPA is a formal

agreement with the FDA as to study design and end

points.) Celgene clinicians again met the challenge 

when asked to initiate three accelerated multi-center

open-label Phase II trials for REVLIMID in myelodys-

plastic syndromes, 5q minus syndromes and multiple

myeloma. To date, more than 1,500 patients have 

participated in key REVLIMID trials designed to achieve

potential approvals in 2005. 

During the year, the Southwest Oncology Group

selected REVLIMID for a Phase III trial designed 

to evaluate its efficacy and safety in newly diagnosed

multiple myeloma patients. Additionally, Celgene and 

the National Cancer Institute initiated a Phase I/II clinical

trial with CC-8490, a novel anti-cancer compound in 

the Company’s new proprietary class of benzopyrans; 

CC-8490 is being evaluated as a potential therapy for

brain cancer. 

In 2003, Celgene also advanced ACTIMID into Phase

II clinical trials for hormone-refractory prostate cancer.

The Company successfully completed Phase I testing of

its SelCID agent CC-10004 following that compound’s

selection as Celgene’s lead oral agent with both PDE 4

inhibitor activity and anti-TNF alpha activity for inflamma-

tory and respiratory indications. Celgene’s lead oral

kinase inhibitor was successfully advanced into Phase I

safety trials. Additional clinical studies for both the

SelCID and kinase programs are scheduled in 2004. 

At two major cancer meetings held in the second

half of 2003 — those of the American Society for

Hematology (ASH) and the Chemotherapy Research

Foundation — there were more than 100 abstracts 

reporting on a wide range of clinical studies with

Celgene agents. At ASH alone there were 128 such

abstracts of which fifty-six abstracts contained data 

from clinical trials of THALOMID as a single agent and 

in combination use for treatment of multiple hema-

tological cancers and malignant blood disorders. Since

THALOMID is a marketed drug, positive clinical reports

and presentations at major medical meetings from 

investigator-led studies can influence broader usage. 

The expanding volume of clinical data reported at

major medical meetings and in major peer-reviewed 

publications builds awareness of potential clinical 

benefit; lays the foundation for rapid adoption; and

reflects the high level of interest and enthusiasm that 

our innovative next-generation drugs are generating 

in the global medical community.

Building on 
       Success
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Solutions for managing complex human disease. 

Our discovery and development platforms for drug and

cell-based therapies allow us to both create and retain

significant value within our therapeutic franchise areas

of cancer and inflammatory diseases. Our team of 

scientists continue to expand and build on those 

platforms. Located at Celgene New Jersey, Celgene 

San Diego and Celgene Cellular Therapeutics, these 

scientists are the driving force behind our success,

enabling target-to-therapeutic platforms that integrate

both small-molecule and cell-based therapies. These

platforms encompass the key functions required to 

generate a broad, deep and diverse pipeline, including:

• cell biology, genomics, proteomics and informatics 

technologies for identifying and validating clinically 

important therapeutic targets;

• high-throughput screening systems combined with 

diverse and focused compound libraries for 

discovering new drug leads; 

• computational and medicinal chemistry for optimizing 

drug candidates; 

• in vitro and in vivo models of disease for preclinical 

evaluation of drug efficacy and safety; and 

• a clinical and regulatory organization highly 

experienced in the successful development of 

pharmaceutical agents. 

The progress that Celgene made in 2003 has 

positioned it to expand and accelerate the development 

45
percent of our total revenues were invested

in the R&D that is essential to our future success
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several high-potential compounds that have emerged

from its rich discovery programs.

The Company’s SelCIDs™ (Selective Cytokine

Inhibitory Drugs) program consists of novel small-

molecule, orally available modulators of the phospho-

diesterase type 4 (PDE 4) target. These compounds 

inhibit cytokines (including TNF� and interleukin-1, or 

IL-1) that are linked to the onset and progression of

inflammatory diseases and, potentially, of cancer. 

We plan to advance our lead SelCID (CC-10004) in 

early-stage clinical trials as a new approach to 

treating chronic inflammatory diseases. 

Our exciting kinase inhibitor program includes

inhibitors of c-Jun N-terminal kinase, or JNK. As such,

kinase inhibitors are designed to bind to and block the

activity of gene-regulating kinase proteins, thereby

inhibiting the ability of those proteins to turn on 

specific genes that cause or contribute to disease. 

We presently hold or own a significant portion of 

the private intellectual property for kinase inhibitors, 

and in fact have a dominant position with respect 

to JNK and other important kinases. 

Our novel ligase modulators are small-molecule 

compounds designed to modulate key cell signaling 

proteins which are potentially accessible targets in 

the treatment of cancer and inflammatory diseases. 

We continue to develop a growing portfolio of small-

molecule modulators of proprietary E3 ligases. We are

also continuing to build a leading intellectual property

estate in the emerging field of ubiquitin ligase-biogenetic

activities and mediated protein turnover, an area that

includes 38 potentially proprietary ligase targets. 

CC-8490, the first promising compound to enter 

the clinic from our benzopyrans research in Celgene 

San Diego, completed a Phase I safety trial and was 

well tolerated in healthy human volunteers. CC-8490

demonstrated anti-proliferative effects and the ability 

to induce apoptosis in preclinical models of cancer. 

As a result of a cooperative research and development

agreement with the National Cancer Institute, they 

initiated a Phase I/II clinical trial of CC-8490 in advanced

brain cancers including glioblastoma. 

Celgene’s newest class of orally available, anti-

proliferative compounds — tubulin inhibitors — contains

multiple drug candidates that have numerous potential

anti-cancer mechanisms. Based on results from our

research with The National Cancer Institute, in 

preclinical models, our proprietary tubulin inhibitors 

have demonstrated activity against drug-resistant 

cancer cells, inhibition of inflammatory cytokines and

anti-angiogenic activity. 

Our growing investment in the development of

immunomodulatory agents and cell signaling inhibitors,

as well as in the development of cellular and tissue 

therapeutics, may allow us to provide physicians/

clinicians with a more comprehensive and integrated 

set of solutions for managing complex human disorders

such as cancer and inflammatory diseases.

Building on 
       Success
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An industry-leading Therapy Assistance Program.

Celgene’s commitment to developing new drugs that

have the potential to improve health and extend life 

goes beyond the clinical and regulatory. We want to

ensure that patients who can benefit from THALOMID®

therapy have the opportunity to receive the drug. 

We translate this commitment into action by supporting 

a therapy assistance program that is one of the most

inclusive in the pharmaceutical industry and at the 

same time complies with our S.T.E.P.S.® program. 

The fact that we help older Americans, who comprise 

a large majority of cancer patients — nearly 80% of

all cancers are diagnosed at ages 55 and older — 

and often have fixed incomes. Today, 19% of all patients

prescribed THALOMID receive the drug free. This 

compares to an average of only 2–3% of patients 

industry-wide, according to the Pharmaceutical

Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA). 

But that’s just part of the story. Because Celgene

believes that all patients with cancer and other serious

diseases should have access to important medications,

and that this access should not depend on whether a

particular manufacturer has a therapy assistance 

program, Celgene has worked diligently in collaboration

with third parties, patient advocacy groups and opinion-

leading healthcare providers to ensure passage of the

Medicare Reform Act of 2003, which will cover oral

oncology drugs for seniors starting January 1, 2006. In

the meantime, Celgene continues to work in partnership

with third-party groups on demonstration project 641 

of the Medicare Reform Act in an effort to provide the

broadest coverage for select oral cancer drugs this year

and next. Approximately 70% of the patients currently 

in our Therapy Assistance Program are estimated to 

be potentially eligible for coverage under the pending

Medicare initiatives.

We are working hard to support the important 

benefits that THALOMID is bringing to thousands of

patients — through our efforts to rapidly advance the

promising new anti-cancer drugs in our pipeline, and

through our multiple programs to ensure that patients 

are not denied access to THALOMID.

Building on 
       Success



19
percent of prescribed patients 

receive THALOMID® through 

our Therapy Assistance Program
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17
high-potential drug candidates 

in our unencumbered product line

Celgene’s wealth of late-stage investigational drugs 

is matched only by the large number of high-potential

compounds it has in early-stage development. In 2003,

Celgene had 17 compounds in its new product pipeline,

representing one of the best portfolios in the biopharma-

ceutical industry and including a diverse group 

of mechanisms targeting a variety of oncology and

inflammatory disorders. Best of all, none of these 

core programs is encumbered by partnerships with 

other companies. And the story does not end here.

Celgene’s world-class discovery engine is continuing 

to produce important scientific and intellectual 

property assets, focusing on the common theme of 

cutting edge research in cellular signaling technology.

Advances by our scientists in unraveling complex cell

signaling pathways is enabling Celgene to produce 

novel therapeutics that have the potential to treat 

a wide range of serious, debilitating and often fatal 

diseases at their source, including cancer and 

inflammatory disorders. 

These new drug classes include the JNK family 

of kinase inhibitors, ligase inhibitors, tubulin inhibitors,

and Celgene’s programs to regulate placental stem 

cell growth. This rich array of early stage, innovative 

programs represents a tremendous asset for Celgene 

as it continues to build its position as a leading innovator,

discovering, developing and commercializing truly novel,

next-generation therapies to advance human health.



THALOMID® (thalidomide)

ENL
Multiple Myeloma
Prostate Cancer
Melanoma
Other Cancers
Inflammatory/Immunological

Ritalin® Program

Focalin™: ADD/ADHD
Focalin: Cancer Fatigue
Ritalin LA: ADD/ADHD
Focalin LA: ADD/ADHD

ALKERAN®: Multiple Myeloma/Ovarian 

Cellular Therapeutics

Stem Cell Transplants*:   Cancer
Ambio-dry™*: Ophthalmology
Placental-derived stem cells

IMiDsTM

REVLIMID™: Multiple Myeloma (FDA Fast Track)
REVLIMID: MDS (FDA Fast Track)
REVLIMID: MDS 5Q- (FDA Fast Track)
REVLIMID: MM (FDA Fast Track)
REVLIMID: Solid Tumors
REVLIMID: Inflammatory/Immunological
ACTIMID™: Multiple Myeloma
ACTIMID: Prostate Cancer
CC-11006

SelCIDsTM

CC-10004: Inflammation
CC-5048: Inflammation/Respiratory

Benzopyrans

CC-8490: Glioblastoma
CC-132889

CC-25493: Osteoporosis

Kinases

JNK: Cancer/Inflammation
IKK: Cancer/Inflammation
MKK: Cancer/Inflammation
Others: Cancer/Inflammation

Tubulin Inhibitors

CC-5079: Cancer

Ligases:  CC-12507 Cancer

FDA Filing/ Approval
Preclinical Phase I Phase II Phase III and FDA Registered*

Cancer
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The numbers do tell the story, but not the whole story. 

What they do not convey is a sense of the vision that has driven

this company to success. At Celgene, our vision has always been

focused on creating and seizing opportunities. The results for 

2003 demonstrate why that guiding principle is as important today

as it was when Celgene began. 

Celgene built its commercial, regulatory and discovery 

success by starting with a controversial

drug, a drug that changed the way we

develop therapeutic compounds today.

In 2003, THALOMID® (thalidomide) 

generated sales of more than 

$223 million, while helping thousands 

of patients combating life-threatening

conditions. We have made great

progress in establishing THALOMID 

as an important therapeutic with 

broad applications. Supporting those

applications are volumes of data from clinical studies of the drug

worldwide in hematological and solid tumor cancers, as well as

from peer-reviewed publications and clinical studies at world-class

cancer centers. This once-unwanted drug passed a major milestone

when it was included in 2003 in the opinion-leading National

Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines for combination 

therapy for newly diagnosed multiple myeloma patients. 

But this is just the beginning. Today we are using THALOMID

as our primary roadmap for developing potent, next-generation

cancer treatments (such as

REVLIMID™ and ACTIMID™) 

from our rich pipeline of

Immunomodulatory Drugs

(IMiDs™). Moreover, we 

are successfully building a world-

class oncology and inflammation

franchise with a pipeline that

includes other classes of drugs

besides the IMiDs. This broad

and deep pipeline holds great

clinical and commercial promise. 

Our willingness and ability to

seize opportunity is demonstrated

by our innovative, proprietary S.T.E.P.S.™ program, which enabled 

us to turn adversity to advantage. S.T.E.P.S. makes the appropriate

distribution of THALOMID possible, and it may have utility for the

distribution of other pharmaceutical products. Our ability to take

hold of opportunity is also demonstrated by the fact that we have

created multiple new product categories with transforming potential

across all facets of our business. This is well demonstrated by our

results for 2003, since we achieved not only record revenue but

also our first full year of profitability, which puts us in an elite 

class of global biopharmaceutical companies reporting sustainable 

and growing profits. We accomplished this while significantly

increasing our investment in research and development and 

retaining ownership rights to all of our valuable core pipeline 

programs. Both strategies are essential to the future of all 

Celgene stakeholders, including thousands of patients in need.

In addition to greatly improving our financial results, we

achieved positive exposure at major medical meetings for 

our late-stage development products; expanded our strong 

management team with key strategic hires; and enhanced our

healthy financial position with a $400 million financing, through 

the issuance of convertible notes. Based on these successes, 

we believe that we entered 2004 well positioned for robust 

growth and for further advances in the clinical development of 

our outstanding pipeline. 

With these successes as a backdrop, here are the figures. 

In 2003, total revenues doubled to more than $271 million, driven

primarily by increased sales of THALOMID. Sales of ALKERAN® and

royalties from our Ritalin® family of products also made meaningful

contributions to Celgene’s increased revenues. For the full year,

Celgene posted net income of $13.5 million, or $0.16 per diluted

share, compared to a net loss of $100.0 million, or $1.29 per share, 

for 2002. We are proud of this major transition to full-year profitability

after 17 years of existence. 

Celgene made significant progress during 2003 in its key 

clinical programs. To advance multiple novel compounds in our

pipeline, we invested nearly $123 million in R&D, 45% more than 

in 2002. During the year, we submitted a supplemental new drug

application (sNDA) for use of THALOMID in multiple myeloma,

which was accepted by the FDA in early 2004 with a target regula-

tory action date of October 2004. Our licensee Pharmion obtained

approval to market THALOMID for relapsed and refractory multiple

Dear Fellow Shareholders:
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myeloma in Australia and New Zealand. As noted above, we are

using THALOMID as a starting point to develop innovative next-

generation drugs. Our lead investigational product, REVLIMID, is

more potent than THALOMID and eliminates many of the negative

attributes that have restricted THALOMID’s use. At Celgene, there

is no higher priority than the accelerated approval of life-enhanc-

ing therapies like REVLIMID, and we continue to make excellent

progress towards this goal. 

One of the trends we see emerging in cancer therapy is 

the increasing use of agents in combination to achieve superior

results. Both THALOMID and REVLIMID are being tested in 

combination trials. The Southwest Oncology Group selected

REVLIMID plus dexamethasone for a major clinical study in newly

diagnosed multiple myeloma, and there is growing evidence 

that REVLIMID may be particularly effective in this setting. 

As for other products in the pipeline, Celgene successfully 

completed Phase I testing of its lead SelCID™ agent, an oral 

drug with PDE 4 inhibitor activity and anti–TNF alpha activity. 

We expect to advance this agent in inflammatory and respiratory

indications during 2004. The lead product in our exciting JNK

inhibitor program, where we have a significant intellectual 

property position and a deep pipeline, successfully completed

Phase I testing. 

In 2003, we obtained rights from GlaxoSmithKline to distribute

and promote ALKERAN, a therapy approved by the FDA for the 

treatment of multiple myeloma. This strategic agreement provides

us with an approved oncology product that complements our 

clinical product portfolio. We were pleased with the positive

acceptance of ALKERAN in its first year on the market under 

the Celgene banner.

We leveraged internal 

capabilities to create revenue 

opportunities through our licensing

agreement with Novartis for

Focalin™ and the Ritalin® family of

drugs, which are treatments for

Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity

Disorder (ADHD.) It was our 

pioneering efforts in chiral

chemistry that enabled us to

develop the refined formulations

of Ritalin, which are now 

bringing us additional revenue

streams from growing product

sales of Focalin and from royalties paid by Novartis on the entire

Ritalin family of drugs. In 2003, a new study demonstrated that

Ritalin LA provides statistically greater symptom management in

children with ADHD over the course of the school day than does 

its major competitor, Concerta®. Novartis has completed Phase III

pivotal trials of Focalin LA in adults and children, and has an ongoing

study specifically designed to examine the effects of Ritalin LA in

females with ADHD. 

Intellectual property is central to the value we are building 

at Celgene. During 2003, we advanced our IP portfolio in a number

of important areas, including the S.T.E.P.S.

program and our kinase inhibitor program.

In the latter case, multiple fundamental

U.S. patents were issued for our high-

potential c-Jun N-terminal kinase

(JNK) programs, an area of signifigant

research by many companies.

We carried out other strategic 

initiatives during the year. We 

reinforced our senior leadership team

by adding seasoned managers with

specialized experience in key areas, such as global clinical and

regulatory activities and sales and marketing. We also strength-

ened Celgene’s capital structure while conditions in the capital

markets were favorable. In June, we completed the placement 

of $400 million of 1.75% Convertible Notes with a 50% conversion 

premium due 2008. Celgene finished the year with more than 

$665 million in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. 

We expect that 2004 will be another significant year for

Celgene as we advance our lead late-stage clinical products

towards regulatory approval, and as we move our rich pipeline of

investigational compounds through clinical trials. We anticipate

achieving good growth in both revenues and profits even as we

again increase our investment in the R&D that truly represents 

the future of Celgene.

We want to thank the extraordinarily talented men and women

whose commitment, creativity and hard work make Celgene such

an exciting growth company. And we want to thank you, our fellow

shareholders, for your continued confidence and support. 
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Seated left to right:

Arthur Hull Hayes, Jr., M.D.
One of our directors since 1995 and a member of
the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, has
been President and Chief Operating Officer of
MediScience Associates, a consulting organization
that works with pharmaceutical firms, biomedical
companies and foreign governments, since July
1991, and clinical professor of medicine and 
pharmacology at the Pennsylvania State University
College of Medicine. From 1986 to 1990, Dr. Hayes
was President and Chief Executive Officer of E.M.
Pharmaceuticals, a unit of E. Merck AG, and from
1981 to 1983 was Commissioner of the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration. Dr. Hayes also is a director of
Myriad Genetics, Inc., NaPro BioTherapeutics, Inc.
and eResearch Technology, Inc.

Gilla Kaplan, Ph.D.
One of our directors since April 1998 and a member
of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, is
head of the Laboratory of Mycobacterial Immunity
and Pathogenesis at The Public Health Research
Institute at the International Center for Public
Health in Newark, New Jersey, where she was
appointed full Member in 2002. Dr. Kaplan has 
also been appointed Professor of Medicine and
Professor of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics
at UMDNJ. Previously, Dr. Kaplan was an immun-
ologist in the Laboratory at Cellular Physiology 
and Immunology at The Rockefeller University in 
New York where she was an Associate Professor.

John W. Jackson 
Has been our Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer since January 1996 and is a
member of the Executive Committee of our Board
of Directors. From February 1991 to January 1996,
Mr. Jackson was President of Gemini Medical, a
consulting firm that he founded which focused on
medical device company strategy and investment
advice. Previously, Mr. Jackson had been President
of the worldwide Medical Device Division of
American Cyanamid, a major pharmaceutical 
company, from February 1986 to January 1991, and
served in various international positions, including 
Vice President—International for American
Cyanamid from 1978 to 1986. Mr. Jackson served 

in several human health marketing positions at
Merck & Company, a major pharmaceutical 
company, from 1971 to 1978. Mr. Jackson received
a B.A. degree from Yale University and an M.B.A.
from INSEAD, France.

Frank T. Cary 
Has been Chairman of the Executive Committee 
of our Board of Directors since July 1990 and one
of our directors since 1987, and is a member of 
the Nominating and Governance Committee 
of our Board of Directors and a member of the
Management Compensation and Development
Committee. From 1973 to 1981, Mr. Cary was
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of International Business Machines Corporation.
Mr. Cary also is a director of Cygnus Therapeutic
Systems Inc., ICOS Corporation, Lincare Inc., Lexmark
International Inc. and Vion Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Walter L. Robb, Ph.D.
One of our directors since 1992 and the Chairman
of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors,
has been a private consultant and President of
Vantage Management Inc., a consulting and
investor services company, since January 1993. 
Dr. Robb was Senior Vice President for Corporate
Research and Development of General Electric
Company, and a member of its Corporate Executive
Council from 1986 to December 1992. Dr. Robb is
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Capital
District Sports. He is also a director of Mechanical
Technology, Inc. and several private companies.

Standing left to right:

Sol J. Barer, Ph.D. 
Has been our President since October 1993 and our
Chief Operating Officer and one of our directors
since March 1994 and is a member of the Executive
Committee of our Board of Directors. Dr. Barer was
Senior Vice President—Science and Technology
and Vice President/General Manager—Chiral
Products from October 1990 to October 1993 and
our Vice President—Technology from September
1987 to October 1990. Dr. Barer received a Ph.D. 
in organic and physical chemistry from Rutgers

University. Dr. Barer is also a director of Nobex,
Inc. and Semorex, Inc. and serves on the New
Jersey Commission of Science and Technology.

Jack L. Bowman 
Has been one of our directors since April 1998, and
is the Chairman of the Nominating and Governance
Committee of our Board of Directors and a member
of the Management Compensation and Development
Committee. Mr. Bowman serves as Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of NeoRx Corporation, 
having served as Company Group Chairman of
Johnson & Johnson from 1987 to 1994. From 1983 
to 1987, Mr. Bowman served as Executive Vice
President of American Cyanamid. Mr. Bowman 
is also a director of NeoRx Corporation, Cell
Therapeutics, Inc., Targeted Genetics and 
Reliant Pharmaceuticals LLC.

Robert J. Hugin 
Has been our Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer since June 1999 and was elected
by the Board of Directors to serve as one of our
directors in December 2001. Previously, Mr. Hugin
had been a Managing Director at J.P. Morgan &
Co. Inc., which he joined in 1985. Mr. Hugin received
an A.B. degree from Princeton University and an
M.B.A. from the University of Virginia. Mr. Hugin 
is also a director of The Medicines Company.

Richard C.E. Morgan 
Has been one of our directors since 1987, and is
Chairman of the Management Compensation and
Development Committee and a member of the
Executive Committee of our Board of Directors. 
Mr. Morgan is the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Amphion Capital Partners LLC and a
Managing Partner of Amphion Capital Management
LLC. Mr. Morgan serves on the Board of Directors
of Axcess Inc. and Orbis International, Inc. and
several other private companies.

Michael D. Casey 
Has served as one of our directors since August
2002 and is a member of the Nominating and
Governance Committee and the Audit Committee.
From October 1997 to February 2002, Mr. Casey
served as the Chairman, President, Chief Executive
Officer and a director of Matrix Pharmaceutical,
Inc. From November 1995 to December 1996, Mr.
Casey was Executive Vice President at Schein
Pharmaceutical, Inc. In December 1996, he was
appointed President of the retail and specialty
products division of Schein. From June 1993 to
November 1995, he served as President and Chief
Operating Officer of Genetic Therapy, Inc. Mr.
Casey was President of McNeil Pharmaceutical (a
unit of Johnson & Johnson) from 1989 to June 1993
and Vice President, Sales and Marketing for Ortho
Pharmaceutical Corp. (a subsidiary of Johnson &
Johnson) from 1985 to 1989. Mr. Casey is also a
director of Bone Care International, Inc., Allos
Therapeutics, Inc., Cholestech Corporation,
OrthoLogic Corp. and Durect Corp.

Board of Directors
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following Selected Consolidated Financial Data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and 

the related Notes thereto, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and other financial

information included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The data set forth below with respect to our Consolidated Statements of Operations

for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and the Consolidated Balance Sheet data as of December 31, 2003 and 2002

are derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements which have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent certified public accountants,

and which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report and are qualified by reference to such Consolidated Financial Statements 

and related Notes thereto. The data set forth below with respect to our Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended

December 31, 2000 and 1999 and the Consolidated Balance Sheet data as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 are derived from 

our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been audited by KPMG LLP and which are not included elsewhere in this Annual

Report. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results of operations.

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Total revenue $271,475 $(135,746 $114,243 $084,908 $(38,192 

Costs and operating expenses 274,124 259,875 139,186 119,217 68,857 

Other income (expense), net 16,128 23,031 20,807 15,496 (1,990)

Income tax benefit (provision) (718) 98 1,232 1,810 3,018 

Income (loss) from continuing operations 12,761 (101,000) (2,904) (17,003) (29,637)

Preferred stock dividend (including accretion

and imputed dividends) — — — — 818 

Income (loss) from continuing operations

applicable to common stockholders $012,761 $(101,000) $0((2,904) $((17,003) $(30,455)

Income (loss) from continuing operations

applicable to common stockholders per share 

of common stock(1):

Basic $0000.16 $00((1.31) $0((((0.04) $0(0(0.25) $(0((0.59)

Diluted $0000.15 $00((1.31) $0(0(0.04) $00((0.25) $(0((0.59)

Weighted average number of shares of 

common stock outstanding(1):

Basic      80,887 77,337 75,108 66,598 51,449 

Diluted 85,398 77,337 75,108 66,598 51,449 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities $666,967 $(261,182 $310,041 $306,162 $(28,947 

Total assets 791,336 327,287 353,982 346,726 46,873 

Long-term obligations under capital leases and

equipment notes payable 16 40 46 633 1,828 

Convertible notes 400,000 — 11,714 11,714 38,495 

Accumulated deficit (308,856) (322,367) (222,367) (220,455) (204,170)

Stockholders’ equity (deficit) 310,054 276,698 310,425 295,533 (9,727)

(1) Amounts have been adjusted for the three-for-one stock split effected in April 2000
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

We are an integrated global pharmaceutical company primarily

engaged in the discovery, development and commercialization of

novel therapies for the treatment of cancer and immunological

diseases. We currently market THALOMID®, our lead product, for

the treatment of erythema nodosum leprosum (“ENL”), which is

more widely used off-label for treatment in multiple myeloma and

other cancers. Despite dosage decreases over the past several

years, THALOMID sales have grown rapidly as the number of

patients using THALOMID has increased steadily. The success 

of THALOMID has enabled us to invest heavily in research and

development spending, which has resulted in a broad portfolio 

of products in our discovery pipeline. Moreover, using years 

of clinical data generated through the study of thalidomide, we

have developed a promising pipeline of THALOMID analogs (e.g.,

IMiDs™). These compounds have been optimized to have the bene-

ficial attributes of thalidomide while having minimized its negative

attributes and side effects. REVLIMID™, one of our clinical stage

IMiDs, is now being tested in ongoing pivotal Phase III special pro-

tocol assessment trials and Phase II trials that have the potential

to result in FDA approval in 2005. Given REVLIMID’s potentially

superior safety and efficacy profile, its higher profitability projections

and the leverage we can achieve from our established oncology

salesforce, we expect the launch of REVLIMID to result in a 

significant growth to our bottom-line. We believe that the success

of THALOMID, the growth opportunities of REVLIMID and a broad

portfolio of products coupled with our solid cash position, places

us in a good position within the biotechnology industry. 

Industry-Wide Factors

Future operating results will depend on many factors, including

demand for our products, regulatory approvals of our products, the

timing of the introduction and market acceptance of new products

by us or competing companies, the timing of research and 

development milestones and our ability to control costs. For 

further discussion about risks, refer to “Risk Factors” contained

in Part I, Item I of the 2003 Form 10-K filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 15, 2004. 

Industry-wide factors that we are focused on include, among

others, near-term competition for THALOMID, delays in the 

introduction of REVLIMID and, in the longer-term, failure to 

commercialize our early stage drug candidates.

Near Term Competition for THALOMID: In June 2003, the FDA

approved Millenium Pharmaceuticals, Inc’s. Velcade® for use in

refractory multiple myeloma patients. While it’s possible that

Velcade could reduce THALOMID sales in multiple myeloma, we

believe that THALOMID will continue to be used as a first line

treatment and that Velcade will likely be used in patients that

have not had success with THALOMID. Also, generic competition

could reduce THALOMID sales. However, we believe this is unlikely,

at least in the near term, given the fact that we have four patents

that expire between the years 2018 and 2020 covering the

“System for Thalidomide Education and Prescribing Safety,” 

or S.T.E.P.S.®, distribution system, which all patients receiving

thalidomide must follow and several issued patents covering

THALOMID use in oncology. Even if generic competition could

manage to enter the market, it is unlikely they could do so before

2006 given the time needed to commercialize a product, and 

by that time, we expect to have at least partially replaced 

THALOMID with REVLIMID. 

Delay In The Introduction of REVLIMID: While we have made

excellent progress in our efforts to accelerate the path to 

regulatory approval of REVLIMID now being tested in ongoing 

pivotal Phase III special protocol assessment trials and Phase II

trials, all of which remain on or ahead of their planned patient

accrual timelines for potential approvals in 2005, a delay in the

introduction of REVLIMID or its failure to demonstrate efficacy or

an acceptable safety profile could adversely affect our business,

financial condition and results of operations. 

Failure To Commercialize Early Stage Drug Candidates: Our

long-term success and sustainability is dependent on our ability to

move our earlier stage drug candidates through development and

to realize the commercial potential of our broad pipeline. 

Company Background 

Celgene was organized in 1980 as a unit of Celanese

Corporation, a chemical company. In 1986, we were spun-off as

an independent chemical biotechnology company and in July

1987, we completed an initial public offering of our common

stock. At first, our operations involved the research and develop-

ment of chemical and biotreatment processes for the chemical

and pharmaceutical industries. In 1994, we discontinued the

biotreatment operations to focus on our targeted small molecule

cancer and immunology compound development programs and our

biocatalytic chiral chemistry program. 

Between 1990 and 1998, our revenues were generated prima-

rily through the development and supply of chirally pure intermedi-

ates to pharmaceutical companies for use in new drug develop-

ment and, to a lesser degree, from agrochemical research and

development contracts. Sales of chirally pure intermediates

became a less integral part of our strategic focus and, in January

1998, we sold the chiral intermediates business to Cambrex

Corporation. Revenue from THALOMID sales, license agreements

and milestone payments related to our cancer and immunology

programs began to increase at this time. 

In July 1998, we received approval from the FDA to market

THALOMID (thalidomide) for use in ENL, a side effect of leprosy,

and, in September 1998, we commenced sales of THALOMID in

the United States. Sales of THALOMID, our lead product, have

grown significantly each year since the launch and, in 2001, 

2002 and 2003 we recorded net THALOMID sales of $82.0 

million, $119.1 million and $223.7 million, respectively. 
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In February 2000, we completed a follow-on public offering in

which we raised proceeds, net of offering expenses, of approxi-

mately $278.0 million. In April 2000, we signed a license and

development agreement with Novartis Pharma AG in which we

granted to Novartis a license for d-MPH, our chirally pure version

of Ritalin. The agreement provides for significant upfront and 

milestone payments based on achieving various regulatory approvals

and royalties on the entire family of Ritalin® products upon

approval of d-MPH by the FDA. We have retained the rights for the

use of d-MPH in oncology indications. We received approval from

the FDA to market d-MPH, or Focalin™, on November 14, 2001.

In August 2000, we acquired Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 

a privately held biopharmaceutical company focused on the 

discovery and development of drugs that regulate genes associated

with disease and, in December 2002, we acquired Anthrogenesis

Corp., a privately held biotherapeutics company pioneering the

recovery of stem cells from human placental tissue following the

completion of a full-term, successful pregnancy.

In March 2003, we entered into a three-year supply and 

distribution agreement with GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK”) to distribute,

promote and sell ALKERAN® (melphalan), a therapy approved by

the FDA for the palliative treatment of multiple myeloma and  

carcinoma of the ovary. Under the terms of the agreement, 

we purchase ALKERAN tablets and ALKERAN for injection from

GSK and distributes the products in the United States under 

the Celgene label. The agreement, which provides us with an

approved oncology product, requires that we purchase certain

minimum quantities each year for an initial three-year term 

under a take-or-pay arrangement aggregating $56.6 million over

such period. At December 31, 2003, the remaining minimum 

purchase requirements under the agreement were $43.5 million.

In June 2003, we raised an additional $387.8 million, net of 

expenses, through the issuance of unsecured convertible notes 

to qualified institutional buyers. The notes have a face value 

of $400.0 million, a term of five-years, a coupon rate of 1.75%

payable semi-annually and are convertible at any time into

8,255,920 shares of common stock at a conversion price 

of $48.45 per share, which represents a 50% premium to our

closing stock price on May 28, 2003.

Until 2003, we had sustained losses in each year since our

incorporation in 1986. For the year ended December 31, 2003,

we posted net income of $13.5 million. We had an accumulated

deficit of $308.9 million at December 31, 2003 and have since

our inception financed our working capital requirements primarily

through product sales, public and private sales of our equity 

securities and debt, income earned on the investment of the 

proceeds from the sale of such securities and revenues from

research contracts and license payments. We expect to make

substantial expenditures to further develop and commercialize 

our products. We expect that our rate of spending will accelerate

as a result of increased clinical trial costs and expenses associated

with regulatory approval and commercialization of products now 

in development. However, these expenditures are expected to be

more than offset by increasing product sales, royalties, revenues

from various research collaborations and license agreements 

with other pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies, 

and investment income.

Results of Operations – 

Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Total Revenue: Total revenue and related percentages for the years

ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

% Change

2002 2001
to to

(In thousands $) 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002

Net product sales:

THALOMID $223,686 $119,060 $82,003 87.9% 45.2%

Focalin 2,383 3,861 2,192 (38.3%) 76.1%

ALKERAN 17,827 — — N/A N/A

Stem Cell 

Therapies 557 — — N/A N/A

Total net product

sales $244,453 $122,921 $84,195 98.9% 46.0%

Collaborative 

agreements

and other 

revenue 15,174 8,115 28,149 87.0% (71.2%)

Royalty revenue 11,848 4,710 — 151.5% N/A

Related-party 

collaborative

agreement 

revenue — — 1,899 N/A N/A

Total revenue $271,475 $135,746 $114,243 100.0% 18.8%

THALOMID net sales increases in 2003 and 2002 were due

to the combination of price increases and increasing use by 

oncologists in the treatment of various types of cancers, especially

first line use in multiple myeloma. THALOMID net sales in 2003

also benefited from the market introduction of two new higher

strength formulations during the first half of 2003, which had

higher per unit sales prices. Net sales of Focalin, which received

FDA approval in November 2001, were lower in 2003 due to the

timing of shipments to Novartis for their commercial distribution.

The ALKERAN supply and distribution agreement with GSK was 

executed in March 2003 and sales of ALKERAN began during 

the second quarter of 2003. Consequently, sales for this product

are reflected only in the 2003 period. 

Collaborative agreements and other revenue for the year ended

December 31, 2003 included primarily $6.0 million related to 

the agreement to terminate the Gelclair co-promotion agreement

between OSI Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Celgene, $4.3 million 
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of research and license funding received in connection with the

Pharmion collaboration agreements, $1.3 million of reimburse-

ments from Novartis for shipments of bulk raw material used 

in the formulation of Focalin™ LA and utilized in clinical studies 

conducted by Novartis and $2.9 million of revenue from the 

Stem Cell Therapies segment, which became effective with the

acquisition of Anthrogenesis on December 31, 2002. The 2002

period included primarily $4.9 million of amortization of an 

up-front payment and a $1.0 million milestone payment received

from Novartis Pharma AG in connection with the SERM license

agreement, $1.2 million of license revenue from Pharmion and

$0.5 million of certain other milestone payments. The 2001 

period included primarily $10.4 million of amortization of upfront

payments related to two separate agreements with Novartis and 

a milestone payment of $12.5 million from Novartis for receiving

FDA approval to market Focalin.

Royalty revenue reflects royalties received from Novartis on

sales of their entire family of Ritalin drugs. There was no related

party revenue in 2003 and 2002 as the agreement with Axys

Pharmaceuticals, which we treated as a related party in 2001 

and under which we recorded revenue of $1.9 million in 2001

expired in October 2001. 

Cost of Goods Sold: Cost of goods sold and related 

percentages for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 

and 2001 were as follows:

(In thousands $) 2003 2002 2001

Cost of goods sold $49,085 $17,322 $13,571

Increase from prior year $31,763 $03,751 N/A

Percentage increase 

from prior year 183.4% 27.6% N/A

Percentage of net 

product sales 20.1% 14.1% 16.1%

Cost of goods sold increased in 2003 compared to 2002, 

primarily due to a significant increase in THALOMID sales volumes,

higher royalties on THALOMID product sales and the introduction of

ALKERAN. The increase in cost of goods sold as a percentage of net

product sales in 2003 compared to 2002 was primarily due to the

introduction of ALKERAN, which has a significantly higher cost structure

than THALOMID, partially offset by higher gross profits on THALOMID

due to price increases initiated during the year and by higher 2002

sales of Focalin, which also has a higher cost structure than THALOMID.

Similar to 2003, cost of goods sold increased in 2002 compared to

2001, due to a significant increase in THALOMID sales volumes.

Also contributing to the 2002 increase were higher sales of Focalin,

which as indicated above, has a higher cost structure than 

THALOMID and higher THALOMID product royalties resulting from

higher sales and thereby triggering higher royalty percentages. 

Focalin product costs incurred prior to its approval in

November 2001 were expensed as research and development

expenses. Focalin actual costs will continue to be lower than 

its standard costs until the product associated with the previously

expensed costs are completely sold. 

Research and Development: Research and development

expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits, contractor

fees, principally with contract research organizations to assist 

in our clinical development programs, clinical drug supplies for 

our clinical and preclinical programs as well as other consumable

research supplies, and allocated facilities charges such as 

building rent and utilities. 

Research and development expenses and related percentages

for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were

as follows:

(In thousands $) 2003 2002 2001

Research and development

expenses $122,700 $84,924 $67,653

Increase from 

prior year $037,776 $17,271 N/A

Percentage increase 

from prior year 44.5% 25.5% N/A

Percentage of total revenue 45.2% 62.6% 59.2%

Research and development expenses increased in 2003 

compared to 2002, primarily due to the initiation of several large

studies related to our THALOMID and REVLIMID clinical programs

in the second half of 2002. In 2003, approximately $82.0 million

was spent on THALOMID and its follow on compounds (i.e., the

IMiDs and SelCIDs) and Focalin, primarily for preclinical toxicology,

phase I/II and phase III clinical trials and regulatory expenses,

approximately $37.1 million was spent in gene regulation, target

and drug discovery and agro-chemical programs, and approximately

$3.7 million was spent on stem cell therapy programs, primarily

for internal headcount related expenses, laboratory supplies and

product development costs. In 2002, approximately $49.1 million

was spent on THALOMID and the IMiDs and SelCIDs™ compounds,

primarily for preclinical toxicology and phase I/II clinical trials, 

the initiation of our phase III clinical trials in multiple myeloma

and metastatic melanoma and legal expenses related to patent

filings and approximately $35.8 million was spent in gene regulation,

target discovery and agro-chemical programs, primarily for internal

headcount related expenses, laboratory supplies and product

development costs. In 2001, approximately $33.1 million was

spent on THALOMID and the IMiDs and SelCIDs compounds, 

primarily for preclinical toxicology and phase I/II clinical trials, 

regulatory expenses for preparation of a supplementary New Drug

Application (“sNDA”) for THALOMID in multiple myeloma and legal

expenses related to patent filings, approximately $2.8 million was

spent for Focalin, primarily for drug supply that was expensed

prior to FDA approval and approximately $31.8 million was spent

in gene regulation, target discovery and agro-chemical programs,
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primarily for internal headcount related expenses, laboratory supplies

and product development costs. As total revenue increases,

research and development expense may continue to decrease as

a percent of total revenue, however the actual dollar amount will

continue to increase as earlier stage compounds are moved

through the preclinical and clinical stages. 

For information about the commercial status, target diseases

and the development of our drug compounds, refer to the product

overview table contained in Part I, Item I of the 2003 Form 10-K

filed with the SEC on March 15, 2004. In general, the estimated

times to completion within the various stages of clinical develop-

ment are as follows:

Clinical Phase Estimated Completion Time

Phase I 1-2 years

Phase II 2-3 years

Phase III 2-3 years

Due to the significant risks and uncertainties inherent in 

preclinical tests and clinical trials associated with each of our

research and development projects, the cost to complete such

projects is not reasonably estimable. The data obtained from

these tests and trials may be susceptible to varying interpretation

that could delay, limit or prevent a project’s advancement through

the various stages of clinical development, which would significantly

impact the costs incurred in bringing a project to completion. 

Selling, General and Administrative: Selling expenses consist

of salaries and benefits for sales and marketing and customer

service personnel, warehousing and distribution costs, and 

other commercial expenses to support the sales force and the

education and registration efforts underlying the S.T.E.P.S. 

program. General and administrative expenses consist primarily 

of salaries and benefits, outside services for legal, audit, tax 

and investor activities and allocations of facilities costs, 

principally for rent, utilities and property taxes.

Selling, general and administrative expenses and related 

percentages for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 

and 2001 were as follows:

(In thousands $) 2003 2002 2001

Selling, general and 

administrative expenses $102,339 $69,717 $57,962

Increase from prior year $032,622 $11,755 N/A

Percentage increase 

from prior year 46.8% 20.3% N/A

Percentage of total revenue 37.7% 51.4% 50.7%

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased in

2003 compared to 2002, primarily due to $10.1 million of

expenses incurred within the Stem Cell Therapies segment, 

which became effective with the acquisition of Anthrogenesis in

December 2002, an increase of approximately $12.0 million in

commercial expenses related to the expansion of the sales and

marketing organization and an increase in customer service staff

and an increase of approximately $10.0 million in general 

administrative and medical affairs expenses. Selling, general and

administrative expenses increased in 2002 compared to 2001, 

primarily due to an increase in commercial expenses to support the

commercialization of THALOMID, with an increase of approximately

$4.9 million in sales and marketing expenses primarily related to

our sales force expansion. As a percent of total revenue, selling,

general and administrative expenses decreased to approximately 38%

in 2003 from approximately 51% in both the 2002 and 2001 periods.

Litigation Settlement and Related Agreements: In December

2002, we entered into a series of agreements with EntreMed, Inc.

and Children’s Medical Center Corporation (“CMCC”) to effectively

terminate ongoing litigation relating to patents for thalidomide

analogs and to grant an exclusive license to Celgene for the 

rights to those patents. Under the terms of an Asset Purchase

Agreement with EntreMed, we paid to EntreMed $10.0 million for

all thalidomide analog patents and associated clinical data and

records, and the termination of any litigation surrounding those

patents. Under the terms of a Securities Purchase Agreement

with EntreMed, we acquired from EntreMed 3,350,000 shares of

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and warrants for an additional

7,000,000 common shares for approximately $16.8 million. We

completed an assessment of the estimated realizable value of 

the investment. Considering the level of the Company’s ownership

interest in EntreMed, its history of operating losses and the fact

that EntreMed is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company

engaged primarily in research and development activities with 

proposed products and research programs in the early stage of

clinical development, and based on such assessment, the entire

amount of such Preferred Stock was written down.

We also signed an exclusive license agreement with CMCC

that terminated any existing thalidomide analog agreements

between CMCC and EntreMed and directly granted us an exclusive

worldwide license for the analog patents. We paid to CMCC $2.5

million under this agreement with another $2.5 million payable

between 2004 and 2006, the present value of which totaled 

$2.2 million and was expensed in 2002. Additionally, we entered

into a five year sponsored research agreement with CMCC 

whereby we have committed $0.3 million per year in funding.

Additional payments are possible under the agreement depending

on the successful development and commercialization of 

thalidomide analogs. 

We recorded a charge to earnings for the cost of these 

agreements and related expenses of $32.2 million in 2002

including the write down of the EntreMed Series A Convertible

Preferred Stock and certain legal expenses incurred in connection

with the settlement. For more information on the litigation 

settlement and related agreements, refer to Note 4 of the 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Acquired In-Process Research and Development: On December 31,

2002, we completed the acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corp., which

now operates as Celgene Cellular Therapeutics, for an aggregate

purchase price of $60.0 million. The acquisition was accounted for

using the purchase method of accounting for business combinations,

under which approximately $55.7 million was allocated to in-process

research and development and charged to expense at the acquisition

date. For more information on the Anthrogenesis acquisition, refer to

Notes 2 and 18 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest and other income: Interest and other income

decreased approximately 5.5% to $21.8 million in 2003, from

$23.1 in 2002. The decrease was primarily due to lower interest

income as a result of lower interest rates in 2003, partially offset

by an increase of $1.4 million in realized gains on marketable

securities. Interest and other income increased approximately

10.4% to $23.1 million in 2002, from $20.9 million in 2001. 

The increase was primarily related to higher realized gains of

approximately $5.0 million on sales of certain marketable securities

partially offset by lower interest income on lower average cash

balances and lower yields on our securities during 2002. 

Interest expense: Interest expense was approximately 

$5.7 million in 2003 and reflects interest on the $400 million

unsecured convertible notes issued on June 3, 2003. Interest

expense for the 2002 and 2001 periods was immaterial. 

Income tax benefit (provision): In 2003 we recognized tax

expense of $1.1 million for federal and state purposes and in

2002, we recognized $0.4 million for state tax purposes. During

2003, 2002 and 2001, we also recognized a tax benefit of 

$0.4 million, $0.7 million and $1.2 million, respectively, from 

the sale of certain state net operating loss carryforwards. 

Income (Loss) from continuing operations: Income (loss) from

continuing operations and per common share amounts for the years

ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

(In thousands $, except 
per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Income (loss) from 

continuing operations $12,761 $(101,000) $(2,904)

Per common share 

amounts:

Basic $000.16 $000(1.31) $0(0.04)

Diluted $000.15 $000(1.31) $0(0.04)

Weighted average number 

of shares of common 

stock utilized to calculate 

per common share amounts

Basic 80,887,000 77,337,000 75,108,000

Diluted 85,398,000 77,337,000 75,108,000

In 2003, we recorded income from continuing operations for

the first time since our inception in 1986. Income (loss) from 

continuing operations increased in 2003 due to an increase in

total revenues of approximately $135.8 million, lead by an

increase in THALOMID net sales of $104.6 million and first-time

ALKERAN sales of $17.8 million and one-time costs incurred in

2002 of $55.7 million from the write-off of acquired in-process

research and development related to the Anthrogenesis acquisition

and $32.2 million associated with litigation settlement and related

agreements with EntreMed, Inc. and CMCC. Offsetting these

increases were higher operating costs and expenses of 

approximately $102.2 million, a decrease in other income and

expense of approximately $6.9 million and, from a per share 

perspective, the higher number of shares of common stock 

utilized to calculate the per common share amounts in 2003. 

The loss from continuing operations increased significantly in

2002 compared to 2001 primarily due to the aggregate one-time

costs of $87.9 million described above, an increase of $32.8 

million in other operating costs and expenses and a decrease 

of $1.1 million in the income tax benefit, partially offset by an

increase in total revenue of $21.5 million and an increase in 

net interest and other income and expense of $2.2 million.

Gain on sale of chiral assets: In January 1998, we completed

the sale of our chiral intermediate business to Cambrex Corporation.

Pursuant to the minimum royalty provisions of the agreement, we

received approximately $0.8 million, $1.0 million and $1.0 million

in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. For more information on

the disposition of the chiral intermediates business, refer to

Notes 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, working capital requirements have been

financed primarily through product sales, private and public sales

of debt and equity securities, income earned on the investment of

such securities and revenue from research contracts and license

and milestone payments. Since our initial product launch in the

third quarter of 1998, we have recorded net product sales totaling

approximately $541.2 million through December 31, 2003. 

On June 3, 2003, we issued convertible notes to institutional

investors in the amount of $400.0 million. Proceeds from the

transaction, net of debt issuance costs, were approximately

$387.8 million. 

Net working capital, (i.e., current assets minus current 

liabilities) at December 31, 2003 increased approximately 

161% to $658.3 million from $251.8 million at December 31,

2002. The increase was primarily due to higher total cash, 

cash equivalents and marketable securities balances, as well 

as increases in both inventory, with the addition of ALKERAN, 

and trade receivables, due to the increase in THALOMID sales,

partially offset by an increase in accrued expenses. 

Cash and cash equivalents increased to $267.5 million at

December 31, 2003 from $85.5 million at December 31, 2002

and investments in marketable securities available for sale

increased to $399.5 million at December 31, 2003, from 

$175.7 million at December 31, 2002. The increase in cash,
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cash equivalents and marketable securities was primarily due to

the net proceeds of $387.8 million received in connection with

the $400 million convertible note offering on June 3, 2003. 

We expect the rate of spending to increase as a result of

research and product development spending, increased clinical

trial costs, increased expenses associated with the regulatory

approval process and commercialization of products currently in

development, increased costs related to the commercialization 

of THALOMID and increased capital investments. Existing cash

and cash equivalents and marketable securities available for sale,

combined with increasing THALOMID product sales, the introduction

of ALKERAN and various research agreements and collaborations

are expected to provide sufficient capital for our operations for

the foreseeable future.

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of

December 31, 2003:

Payment Due By Period

Less More
than 1 1-3 3-5 than 5 

(In millions $) Year Years Years Years Total

Convertible Note 

Obligations $0((— $0(,— $400.0 $((— $400.0 

Operating leases 3.7 7.0 6.2 8.9 25.8 

ALKERAN supply and 

distribution agreement 18.5 25.0 — — 43.5 

Employment agreements 2.7 5.5 — — 8.2 

Other contract 

commitments 0.7 7.2 — —- 7.9 

$25.6 $44.7 $406.2 $8.9 $485.5 

Convertible Note Obligations: In June 2003, we issued

$400.0 million of unsecured convertible notes to qualified 

institutional investors. The notes have a five-year term and a

coupon rate of 1.75% payable semi-annually commencing

December 1, 2003. The notes have a conversion rate of 

$48.45 per share, which represents a 50% premium to our 

closing stock price on May 28, 2003. The debt issuance costs

related to these notes, which totaled approximately $12.2 million,

are classified under “Other Assets” on the Consolidated Balance

Sheet and are being amortized over five years. Under the terms 

of the Purchase Agreement, the note holders can convert the

notes into 8,255,920 common shares at any time at the 

conversion price, and also have the right to require us to redeem

the notes prior to maturity in the event of a “fundamental

change”, as defined within the Agreement. We are required to 

register the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion

with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and to use 

reasonable best efforts to keep the registration statement 

effective for the defined period.

Operating (facilities) leases: We lease an aggregate of 92,100-

square feet of laboratory and office space in Warren, New Jersey,

under various leases with unaffiliated parties, which have lease

terms ending between June 2005 and July 2010 with renewal

options ranging from either one or two additional five-year terms.

Annual rent for these facilities is approximately $1.0 million. We

also are required to reimburse the lessors for real estate taxes,

insurance, utilities, maintenance and other operating costs. We also

lease an 18,000-square foot laboratory and office facility in North

Brunswick, New Jersey, under a lease with an unaffiliated party that

has a term ending in March 2009 with two five-year renewal

options. Annual rent for this facility is approximately $0.5 million. 

In December 2001, we entered into a lease to consolidate 

our San Diego, California, operations into one building. The

78,202-square foot laboratory and office facility in San Diego,

California was leased from an unaffiliated party and has a term

ending in August 2012 with one five-year renewal option. Annual

rent for this facility is approximately $1.8 million and is subject 

to specified annual rental increases. Under the lease, we also 

are required to reimburse the lessor for real estate taxes, 

insurance, utilities, maintenance and other operating costs. 

Upon completion of the acquisition of Anthrogenesis on

December 31, 2002, we assumed two separate leases in the

same facility for office and laboratory space in Cedar Knolls, 

New Jersey and have subsequently entered into one additional

lease for additional space in the same facility. The leases are for

an aggregate 20,000-square feet with annual rent of approximately

$0.2 million. We also are required to reimburse the lessors for

real estate taxes, insurance, utilities, maintenance and other

operating costs. The leases have terms ending between September

2007 and April 2009 with renewal options ranging from either one

or two additional five-year terms. In November of 2002, Anthrogenesis

entered into a lease for an additional 11,000 square feet of 

laboratory space in Baton Rouge, Louisiana. The lease has a 

five-year term with a three-year renewal option. Annual rent for 

this facility is approximately $0.1 million.

For a schedule of payments related to operating leases, refer

to Note 17 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

ALKERAN Purchase Commitments: On March 31, 2003, we

entered into a supply and distribution agreement with GSK to 

distribute, promote and sell ALKERAN (melphalan), a therapy

approved by the FDA for the palliative treatment of multiple 

myeloma and carcinoma of the ovary. Under the terms of the

agreement, we purchase ALKERAN tablets and ALKERAN for 

injection from GSK and distributes the products in the United

States under the Celgene label The agreement, which provides 

us with an approved oncology product, requires that we 

purchase certain minimum quantities each year for an initial

three-year term under a take-or-pay arrangement aggregating

$56.6 million over such period. At December 31, 2003, the

remaining minimum purchase requirements under the agreement

were $43.5 million. 
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Employment Agreements: We have employment agreements

with certain officers and employees. Employment contracts provide

for base compensation and an annual target bonus based upon

achievement of Company performance measures and annual

increases in base compensation reflecting annual reviews and 

related salary adjustment. The outstanding commitment for base

compensation related to employment contracts as of December 31,

2003 is approximately $2.6 million per year in each of the next

three consecutive years (excluding any change in control provisions).

Other Contract Commitments: We signed an exclusive license

agreement with CMCC, which terminated any existing thalidomide

analog agreements between CMCC and EntreMed and directly 

granted to Celgene an exclusive worldwide license for the analog

patents. Under the agreement, we are required to pay CMCC 

$2.5 million between 2004 and 2006, the present value of which

totaled $2.2 million and was expensed in 2002. Additional payments

are possible under the agreement depending on the successful

development and commercialization of thalidomide analogs.

We have an agreement with Penn Pharmaceutical, Ltd. of

Great Britain for the production of THALOMID. Penn manufactures

THALOMID and sells it exclusively to us. The agreement has 

been extended through 2004 for Dedicated Containment 

Facilities (“DCF”) payments totaling approximately $0.7 million. 

In November 2001, concurrent with the Pharmion License 

agreement (see Note 15 of the Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements), we entered into an agreement with Penn

Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. and its shareholders in which Penn granted

us an option to purchase their thalidomide DCF and related

thalidomide assets. We have three years in which to exercise 

the option. The purchase price will be determined in the future

based on a formula defined in the agreement.

In October 2003, we signed an agreement with Institute of

Drug Technology Australia Limited (“IDT”) for the manufacture 

of finished dosage form of THALOMID capsules. The agreement

requires minimum payments for THALOMID capsules of $4.7 

million for the three-year term commencing with the FDA’s

approval of IDT as an alternate supplier. This agreement provides

us with additional capacity and reduces our dependency on one

manufacturer for the production of THALOMID.

2004 Financial Outlook

In our January 29, 2004 earnings release, we set forth 

our earnings estimate for full year 2004. Although management

believes that the January 29, 2004 earnings projection continues

to reflect the current thinking of management, there can be no

assurance that sales or earnings will develop in the manner 

projected or if the analysis, on which the earnings projection 

were based, were to be redone on the date hereof 

that there would be no change in the guidance. 

Revenues: We anticipate revenues for 2004 to be in the range

of $360 to $380 million, a projected increase of approximately

33% to 40% over total 2003 revenues of $271.5 million. 

THALOMID net sales are targeted to be in the range of $280 to

$290 million, representing a projected increase of approximately

25% to 30% over THALOMID net sales of $223.5 million in 2003.

Additionally, we are maintaining our target revenues for the Ritalin

family of drugs of approximately $40 million in 2004, which

includes a milestone payment for filing an NDA for Focalin LA.

R&D Spending: Research and development expenses in 

2004 are expected to be in the range of $160 to $170 million, 

a projected increase of approximately 34% compared to 2003, 

as we continue to accelerate spending to support multiple pivotal

Phase III and other accelerated regulatory programs. Important

components of our 2004 R&D spending include (1) expanded

investment in our hematological and malignant blood disorder 

disease programs, (2) investment in the investigation of our

agents in combination use in solid tumor clinical trials, and 

(3) advancement of multiple high potential pre-clinical and 

clinical compounds, including; SelCIDs, kinase inhibitors, 

ligase inhibitors, tubulin inhibitors and benzopyrans. 

SG&A Expenses: Selling, general and administrative expenses

in 2004 are expected to be in the range of $115 to $125 million,

a projected increase of approximately 17% compared to 2003. 

Earnings Per Share: Diluted earnings per share are expected

to be in the range of $0.40 to $0.50 per share in 2004, 

representing an increase of approximately 180% over our 

2003 results. 

Critical Accounting Policies

A critical accounting policy is one which is both important to

the portrayal of the Company’s financial condition and results of

operation and requires management’s most difficult, subjective 

or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make 

estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently 

uncertain. While our significant accounting policies are more 

fully described in Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements included in this annual report, we believe

the following accounting policies to be critical:

Revenue Recognition on Collaboration Agreements: We have

formed collaborative research and development agreements 

and alliances with several pharmaceutical companies. These

agreements are in the form of research and development and

license agreements. The agreements are for both early and late

stage compounds and are focused on specific disease areas. 

For the early stage compounds, the agreements are relatively

short-term agreements that are renewable depending on the 

success of the compounds as they move through preclinical 

development. The agreements call for nonrefundable upfront 

payments, milestone payments on achieving significant milestone

events, and in some cases ongoing research funding. The 

agreements also contemplate royalty payments on sales if and

when the compound receives FDA marketing approval. 

In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104 (“SAB

104”) “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,” upfront
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payments are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized over

the estimated service period. If the estimated service period 

is subsequently modified, the period over which the upfront fee 

is recognized is modified accordingly on a prospective basis.

Continuation of certain contracts is dependent upon our achieving

specific contractual milestones; however, none of the payments

received to date are refundable regardless of the outcome of the

project. Research funding is recorded in the period during which

the expenses covered by the funding occurred. 

SAB No. 104 updates the guidance in SAB No. 101 and

requires companies to identify separate units of accounting based

on the consensus reached on Emerging Issues Task Force

(“EITF”) Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple

Deliverables” (“EITF 00-21”). EITF 00-21 provides guidance on

how to determine when an arrangement that involves multiple 

revenue-generating activities or deliverables should be divided 

into separate units of accounting for revenue recognition purposes,

and if this division is required, how the arrangement consideration

should be allocated among the separate units of accounting. EITF

00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in quarters

beginning after June 15, 2003. If the deliverables in a revenue

arrangement constitute separate units of accounting according to

the EITF’s separation criteria, the revenue-recognition policy must

be determined for each identified unit. If the arrangement is a single

unit of accounting under the separation criteria, the revenue-

recognition policy must be determined for the entire arrangement.

The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not impact the Company’s consoli-

dated financial position or results of operations, but could affect

the timing or pattern of revenue recognition for future collaborative

research and/or license agreements. Prior to the adoption of 

EITF 00-21, revenues from the achievement of research and

development milestones, which represent the achievement of 

a significant step in the research and development process, 

were recognized when and if the milestones were achieved.

Gross to Net Sales Accruals For Sales Returns, Medicaid

Rebates and Chargebacks: We record an allowance for sales

returns based on the actual returns history for consumed lots and

the trend experience for lots where product is still being returned.

We record Medicaid rebate accruals based on historical payment

data and estimates of Medicaid beneficiary utilization. We record

chargeback accruals based on actual sales to customers who 

are covered under federally qualified programs.

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance: We utilize the asset

and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this

method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based

on the difference between the financial statement carrying

amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted 

tax rates in effect for years in which the temporary differences

are expected to reverse. We recognized a 100% valuation

allowance on net deferred tax assets based on a cumulative

three-year history of losses (including operating losses in each 

of the last three years).

Accounting for Long-Term Incentive Plans: We recorded a 

liability for the 2003 – 2005 plan based on achieving an 

estimated award of 75% of the target. The plan provides payout 

in the range of 0% to 200%. 

Acquired in-process research and development (“IPR&D”): The

value assigned to acquired in-process research and development

is determined by identifying those acquired specific in-process

research and development projects that would be continued and

for which (a) technological feasibility has not been established at

the acquisition date, (b) there is no alternative future use, and 

(c) the fair value is estimable with reasonable reliability. Amounts

assigned to IPR&D are charged to expense at the acquisition

date. The estimated fair value of these projects is determined by

employment of a discounted cash flow model. The discount rates

used takes into account the stage of completion and the risks

surrounding the successful development and commercialization 

of each of the purchased in-process technology projects that are

valued. The analysis includes forecasted future cash flows that

are expected to result from the progress made on the in-process

project prior to the purchase dates. Appropriate operating expenses

are deducted from the total forecasted net revenues to establish

a forecast of net returns on the completed portion of the in-process

technology. Finally, these net returns are discounted to a present

value using discount rates that incorporate the weighted average

cost of capital relative to the biotech industry and the Company

as well as product specific risks associated with the purchased 

in-process research and development products. The product 

specific risk factors include the product's phase of development,

likelihood of success, manufacturing process capability, scientific

rationale, preclinical safety and efficacy data, target product profile,

and development plan and takes into consideration an overall 

discount rate, which represents a risk premium to the Company’s

weighted average cost of capital for purchase valuation purposes.

The forecast data in the analysis is based on internal product

level forecast information maintained by management in the 

ordinary course of managing the business. The inputs used by

management in analyzing IPR&D is based on assumptions, which

management believes to be reasonable but which are inherently

uncertain and unpredictable. These assumptions may be incomplete

or inaccurate, and no assurance can be given that unanticipated

events and circumstances will not occur. The valuations used 

to estimate IPR&D require us to use significant estimates and

assumptions, that if changed, may result in a different valuation

for IPR&D. Valuations for the Anthrogenesis acquisition were 

completed by an independent third-party consulting firm in 

accordance with SEC guidelines. 
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

The following discussion provides forward-looking quantitative and qualitative information about the Company’s potential exposure to

market risk. Market risk represents the potential loss arising from adverse changes in the value of financial instruments. The risk of loss 

is assessed based on the likelihood of adverse changes in fair values, cash flows or future earnings. 

The Company has established guidelines relative to the diversification and maturities of investments to maintain safety and liquidity.

These guidelines are reviewed periodically and may be modified depending on market conditions. Although investments may be subject to

credit risk, the Company’s investment policy specifies credit quality standards for its investments and limits the amount of credit exposure

from any single issue, issuer or type of investment. The Company’s investments are also subject to interest rate risk and will decrease in

value if market interest rates increase. The Company does not use derivative instruments for investment or trading purposes. At December

31, 2003, the Company’s market risk sensitive instruments consisted of marketable securities available for sale, a senior convertible

promissory note due from Pharmion Corporation and unsecured convertible notes issued by the Company. 

Marketable Securities Available for Sale: At December 31, 2003 the Company’s marketable securities available for sale consisted of

U.S. government agency mortgage obligations, U.S. government agency bonds and corporate debt securities, which have been classified as

marketable securities available for sale and carried at fair value. Securities classified as available for sale are held for an indefinite period

of time and are intended to be used to meet the ongoing liquidity needs of the Company. Unrealized gains and losses (which are deemed

to be temporary) on available for sale securities, if any, are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. The cost of all debt

securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. The amortization, along with realized gains and

losses, is included in interest and other income. 

The table below presents the principal amounts and related weighted average interest rates by duration for the marketable securities

portfolio at December 31, 2003:

Fixed rate securities

0 to 1 1 to 3 3 to 5 5 to 7 Variable 
(In Thousands $) Year Year Year Year rate Total

Principal amount $77,662 $176,765 $14,422 $73,275 $37,150 $379,274

Fair value $65,831 $207,496 $15,064 $74,884 $36,239 $399,514

Average Interest Rate 3.49% 5.62% 3.32% 5.10% 6.71% 5.10%

Pharmion Note: At December 31, 2003, the Company held a $12.0 million, five year, 6% payable semi-annual Senior Convertible

Promissory Note due from Pharmion Corporation. The Note has a conversion price of $11.00 per share of common stock adjusted for

Pharmion’s four-for-one reverse stock split (for more information see Note 15 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements). 

The Pharmion Note is classified under “Other Assets” on the balance sheet and measured at cost. At December 31, 2003, the estimated

fair value of the Pharmion Note exceeded the carrying value by approximately $5.2 million, which reflects the increase in the market price

of Pharmion Corporation’s common stock price to $15.25 per share as of December 31, 2003 (effective March 1, 2004, the note was

converted into 1,150,511 shares of Pharmion common stock).

Convertible Debt: At December 31, 2003, the Company had $400.0 million of unsecured convertible notes outstanding. The notes

have a five-year term and a coupon rate of 1.75% payable semi-annually. The notes can be converted at any time into 8,255,920 shares 

of common stock at a conversion price of $48.45 per share (for more information see Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements). At December 31, 2003, the fair value of the Company’s convertible notes exceeded the carrying value of $400.0 million by

approximately $78.1 million, which the Company believes reflects the increase in the market price of the Company’s common stock to

$44.88 per share as of December 31, 2003. Assuming other factors are held constant, an increase in interest rates generally results in 

a decrease in the fair value of fixed-rate convertible debt, but does not impact the carrying value, and an increase in the Company’s stock

price generally results in an increase in the fair value of convertible debt, but does not impact the carrying value. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Celgene Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Celgene Corporation and 

subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of 

operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended

December 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements

based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States

of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,

as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material

respects, the financial position of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 

and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the 

three-year period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America. 

As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company adopted the 

provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations” 

effective July 1, 2001.

Short Hills, New Jersey

January 28, 2004
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $267,453 $085,475 

Marketable securities available for sale 399,514 175,707 

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,530 and $1,020

at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively 35,495 17,659 

Inventory 9,696 4,806 

Other current assets 17,941 12,449 

Total current assets 730,099 296,096 

Plant and equipment, net 22,546 19,600 

Intangible assets, net 2,695 3,010 

Goodwill 3,490 2,973 

Other assets 32,506 5,608 

Total assets $791,336 $327,287 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $15,340 $16,516 

Accrued expenses 55,276 26,976 

Current portion of deferred revenue 589 109 

Current portion of capital leases and note obligation 30 86 

Other current liabilities 559 599 

Total current liabilities 71,794 44,286 

Long term convertible notes 400,000 —   

Deferred revenue,net of current portion 1,122 1,390 

Capitalized leases and note obligation, net of current portion 16 40 

Other non-current liabilities 8,350 4,873 

Total liabilities 481,282 50,589 

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value per share, 5,000,000 shares

authorized; none outstanding at December 31, 2003 and 2002 — —   

Common stock, $.01 par value per share, 120,000,000 shares 

authorized; issued and outstanding 81,411,055 and 

80,176,713 shares at December 31, 2003 and  

December 31, 2002, respectively. 814 802

Additional paid-in capital 607,484 591,277 

Accumulated deficit (308,856) (322,367)

Notes receivable from stockholders —  (42)

Accumulated other comprehensive income 10,612 7,028 

Total stockholders’ equity 310,054 276,698 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $791,336 $327,287 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Revenue:

Net product sales $244,453 $(122,921 $84,195 

Collaborative agreements and other revenue 15,174 8,115 28,149 

Royalty revenue 11,848 4,710 —   

Related-party collaborative agreement revenue — —   1,899 

Total revenue 271,475 135,746 114,243 

Expenses:

Cost of goods sold 49,085 17,322 13,571 

Research and development 122,700 84,924 67,653 

Selling, general and administrative 102,339 69,717 57,962 

Litigation settlement and related agreements — 32,212 —   

Acquired in-process research and development — 55,700 —   

Total expenses 274,124 259,875 139,186 

Operating loss (2,649) (124,129) (24,943)

Other income and expense:

Interest and other income 21,795 23,058 20,890 

Interest expense 5,667 27 83 

Income (loss) before income taxes 13,479 (101,098) (4,136)

Income tax benefit (provision) (718) 98 1,232 

Income (loss) from continuing operations 12,761 (101,000) (2,904)

Discontinued operations:

Gain on sale of chiral assets 750 1,000 992 

Net income (loss) $013,511 $(100,000) $((1,912)

Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share:

Basic  $0000.16 $000(1.31) $0((0.04)

Diluted $0000.15 $000(1.31) $0((0.04)

Discontinued operations per common share:

Basic  $0000.01 $0(000.01 $0(0.01 

Diluted $0000.01 $0(000.01 $0(0.01 

Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic  $0000.17 $000(1.29) $0((0.03)

Diluted $0000.16 $000(1.29) $0((0.03)

Weighted average number of shares of common

stock utilized to calculate per share amounts:

Basic 80,887,000 77,337,000 75,108,000 

Diluted 85,398,000 77,337,000 75,108,000 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity 
Years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Additional
Common Treasury Paid-in

(Dollars in thousands) Stock Stock Capital

Balances at December 31, 2000 $740 $0   $519,290 

Net loss
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities

Less: reclassification adjustment for gain included in net loss

Comprehensive income
Exercise of stock options and warrants 15 6,761 
Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans and 

non-employee services 1 779 
Purchase of treasury stock (3)
Reduction of deferred compensation for terminations (833)

Amortization of deferred compensation and 
restricted stock granted to employees 1,026 

Collection of notes receivable from stockholders

Balances at December 31, 2001 $756 $(3) $527,023 

Net loss
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities

Less: reclassification adjustment for gain included in net loss

Comprehensive loss

Exercise of stock options and warrants 12 3,956 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 5 961 

Purchase of treasury stock (2)

Conversion of long-term convertible notes 19 11,695 

Shares issued pursuant to Anthrogenesis acquisition 15 47,426 

Reduction of deferred compensation for terminations (328)

Amortization of deferred compensation

Expense related to non-employee stock options and restricted stock 
granted to employees 467 

Income tax benefit upon exercise of stock options 77 

Balances at December 31, 2002 $802 $0   $591,277 

Net income
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities

Less: reclassification adjustment for gain included in net income

Comprehensive income

Exercise of stock options and warrants 11 11,959 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 1 2,774 

Expense related to non-employee stock options and restricted stock
granted to employees 704 

Income tax benefit upon exercise of stock options 770 

Collection of notes receivable from stockholders

Balances at December 31, 2003 $814 $0   $607,484 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes Accumulated
Receivable Other

Accumulated Deferred from Comprehensive
Deficit Compensation Stockholders Income (Loss) Total

$(220,455) $(4,891) $(62) $00,910 $295,532 

(1,912) (1,912)

6,760 6,760 

(1,019) (1,019)

$3,829 
6,776 

780 
(3)

833 —   

2,465 3,491 

20 20 

$(222,367) $(1,593) $(42) $06,651 $310,425 

(100,000) (100,000)

6,323 6,323 

(5,946) (5,946)

$(99,623)

3,968 

966 

(2)

11,714 

47,441 

328 —   

1,265 1,265 

467 

77 

$(322,367) $0000 0   $(42) $07,028 $276,698 

13,511 13,511 

10,939 10,939 

(7,355) (7,355)

$017,095 

11,970 

2,775 

704 

770 

42 42 

$(308,856) $0000 0   $0(0   $10,612 $310,054 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Cash flows from operating activities:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $12,761 $(101,000) $(2,904)
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from continuing

operations to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of long-term assets 8,027 5,182 5,086 
Provision for accounts receivable allowances 448 295 553 
Realized gain on marketable securities available for sale (7,355) (5,946) (1,019)
Non-cash write-off of acquired in-process research and development — 55,700 —   
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense 704 467 3,529 
Amortization of premium/discount on marketable securities available for sale, net 1,238 367 212 
Loss on sale of equipment 84 —  —   
Amortization of debt issuance cost 1,422 —   28 
Amortization of discount on note obligation 137 —   —   
Shares issued for employee benefit plans 2,775 966 741 

Change in current assets and liabilities, excluding the effect of acquisition:
Increase in accounts receivable (18,273) (4,166) (4,122)
(Increase) decrease in inventory (4,891) (1,198) 663 
(Increase) decrease in other operating assets (9,253) (2,917) 2,285 
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 30,403 19,298 5,750 
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue 498 (4,866) (12,457)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 18,725 (37,818) (1,655)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (11,227) (11,077) (7,870)
Acquisition of Anthrogenesis, net of cash received — (10,299) —   
Proceeds from the sale of equipment 138 —   —   
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities available for sale 186,370 133,265 119,790 
Purchases of marketable securities available for sale (400,477) (40,116) (231,374)
Investment in convertible notes (12,000) —   —   
Proceeds from the sale of chiral intermediate assets 750 1,000 992 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (236,446) 72,773 (118,462)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options and warrants 11,970 3,968 6,776 
Proceeds from convertible notes 400,000 —   —   
Debt issuance cost (12,212) —   —   
Proceeds from notes receivable from stockholders 42 —   20 
Purchase of treasury stock — (2) (3)
Repayment of capital lease and note obligations (101) (587) (929)

Net cash provided by financing activities 399,699 3,379 5,864 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 181,978 38,334 (114,253)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 85,475 47,141 161,394 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $267,453 $85,475 $47,141

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activity:
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities available for sale (3,584) (377) 5,741 

Issuance of common stock upon the conversion of convertible notes and 
accrued interest thereon, net — 11,714 —   

Equipment acquisition on capital leases 110 —   —   

Deferred compensation relating to stock options — (328) (833)

Issuance of common stock, options and warrants in connection with 
acquisition of Anthrogenesis — 47,441 —   

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid 3,584 27 83 

Cash received related to tax benefit 653 —   1,232

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2003 (Thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, unless otherwise indicated)

Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation: Celgene Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively

“Celgene” or the “Company”) is an integrated biopharmaceutical company primarily engaged in the 

discovery, development and commercialization of innovative therapies designed to treat cancer and

immunological diseases through regulation of cellular, genomic and proteomic targets. The Company’s

commercial stage programs include pharmaceutical sales of THALOMID® and ALKERAN®, a licensing

agreement with Novartis for Focalin® and the entire Ritalin® family of drugs, as well as, biotherapeutic

products through Celgene Cellular Therapeutics (“CCT”), a wholly owned subsidiary. THALOMID 

(thalidomide), the Company’s lead product, was approved in July 1998 for the treatment of erythema

nodosum leprosum (“ENL”) by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). Net THALOMID product

sales accounted for approximately 82%, 88% and 72% of total revenues in 2003, 2002 and 2001,

respectively. In March 2003, the Company entered into a three-year supply and distribution agreement

with GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK”) to distribute, promote and sell ALKERAN (melphalan) in all dosage forms 

in the United States under Celgene’s label. In November 2001, the Company received FDA approval for

Focalin, its refined version of Ritalin, for the treatment of attention deficit disorder/attention deficit 

hyperactivity disorder. Focalin is marketed by Novartis Pharma AG. Under the agreement with Novartis,

the Company receives royalty payments on the entire Ritalin family line of products. In December 2002,

the Company acquired Anthrogenesis Corporation, which now operates as CCT. CCT is a biotherapeutics

company pioneering the development of stem cell therapies and biomaterials derived from human 

placental tissue. The portfolio of products in the Company’s preclinical and clinical-stage pipeline

includes Immunomodulatory Drugs (“IMiDs™”) and Selective Cytokine Inhibitory Drugs (“SelCIDs™”). 

The Company hopes to use its extensive knowledge on THALOMID as a blueprint to advance these 

next generation compounds. Through a “bottom up” approach (target screening, bioinformatics, assay

development, libraries and cellular disease models) at its Signal San Diego, California subsidiary, 

the Company has also produced such compounds as Benzopyrans and Selective Estrogen Receptor

Modulators (“SERMs™”), Kinases Inhibitors, Tubulin Inhibitors, and Ligase Modulators.  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Celgene Corporation and its subsidiaries.

All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated. Certain reclassifications have been

made to prior years’ financial statements in order to conform to the current year’s presentation.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those

estimates. The Company is subject to certain risks and uncertainties such as uncertainty of product

development, uncertainties regarding regulatory approval, no assurance of market acceptance of 

products, risk of product liability, uncertain scope of patent and proprietary rights, intense competition,

and rapid technological change. 

Cash Equivalents: At December 31, 2003 and 2002, cash equivalents consisted principally of 

highly liquid funds invested in commercial paper, money market funds, and United States government

securities such as treasury bills and notes. These instruments have maturities of three months or less

when purchased and are stated at cost, which approximates market value because of the short maturity

of these investments. 

Financial Instruments: Certain financial instruments reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,

certain other assets, accounts payable and certain other liabilities. The fair value of marketable 

securities available for sale is based on quoted market prices. Fair values are determined through 

a combination of management estimates and information obtained from third parties using the 

latest market data. 

Marketable Securities: The Company’s marketable securities are all classified as securities available

for sale in current assets and are carried at fair value. Such securities are held for an indefinite period of

time and are intended to be used to meet the ongoing liquidity needs of the Company. Unrealized gains

1. Nature of Business
and Summary of 
Significant Accounting 
Policies
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and losses (which are deemed to be temporary), if any, are reported in a separate component of 

stockholders’ equity. The cost of investments in debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums

and accretion of discounts to maturity. The amortization, along with realized gains and losses, is included

in interest income. The cost of securities is based on the specific identification method.

A decline in the market value of any available-for-sale security below cost that is deemed to be 

other than temporary results in a reduction in carrying amount to fair value. The impairment is charged

to earnings and a new cost basis for the security is established. 

Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted over the life of the related available-for-sale

security as an adjustment to yield using the effective-interest method. Dividend and interest income 

are recognized when earned. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities are financial 

instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk. The Company invests 

its excess cash primarily in U.S. government agency securities and mortgage obligations and marketable

debt securities of financial institutions and corporations with strong credit ratings. The Company also 

has established guidelines relative to diversification and maturities to maintain safety and liquidity.

These guidelines are reviewed periodically and may be modified to take advantage of trends in yields 

and interest rates. The Company has for a majority of its investments held them to maturity. However,

the Company has the ability to sell these investments before maturity and has therefore classified 

the investments as available for sale. The Company has not experienced any significant losses on its

investments. 

As is typical in the pharmaceutical industry, the Company sells its products primarily through 

wholesale distributors and therefore, wholesale distributors account for a large portion the Company’s

trade receivables and net product revenues. In light of this concentration, the Company continuously

monitors the creditworthiness of its customers and has internal policies regarding customer credit 

limits. The Company estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the creditworthiness of 

its customers as well as general economic conditions. An adverse change in those factors could affect

the Company’s estimate of its bad debts.

Inventory: Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)

method. 

Plant and Equipment: Plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of plant and equipment

is provided using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 10 years

Laboratory equipment and machinery 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Computer Equipment 3 years

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred, while renewals and improvements

are capitalized.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Goodwill represents the excess of costs over the fair value of

identifiable net assets of businesses acquired. The Company adopted the provisions of Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”),

as of January 1, 2002. Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a purchase business combination and

determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized, but instead are tested for impairment at

least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 142. SFAS 142 also requires that intangible

assets with estimable useful lives be amortized to their estimated residual values over their respective

estimated useful lives, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: The Company adopted SFAS 144 as of January 1, 2002. SFAS

144 provides a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of. It also changes the 
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criteria for classifying an asset as held for sale and broadens the scope of businesses to be disposed 

of that qualify for reporting as discontinued operations and changes the timing of recognizing losses 

on such operations. The adoption of SFAS 144 did not affect the Company’s financial statements. 

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, 

software costs and purchased intangibles subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an

asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the 

carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized

by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to

be disposed of would be separately presented in the consolidated balance sheet and reported at the

lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The assets

and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for sale would be presented separately in the 

appropriate asset and liability sections of the consolidated balance sheet. 

Business Combinations: SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”) requires that all

business combinations consummated after June 30, 2001 be accounted for using the purchase method

of accounting. Under SFAS 141, the pooling-of-interests method of accounting for business combinations

is no longer permitted. The Company’s acquisition of Anthrogensis Corporation, which was completed 

on December 31, 2002, was accounted for using the purchase method and its acquisition of Signal

Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which was completed on August 31, 2000, was accounted for using the pooling-

of-interests method. 

Acquired in-process research and development (“IPR&D”): The value assigned to acquired in-process

research and development is determined by identifying those acquired specific in-process research 

and development projects that would be continued and for which (a) technological feasibility has not

been established at the acquisition date, (b) there is no alternative future use, and (c) the fair value 

is estimable with reasonable reliability. Amounts assigned to IPR&D are charged to expense at the 

acquisition date. 

Research and Development Costs: All research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

These include all internal costs, external costs related to services contracted by the Company and

research services conducted for others. Research and development costs consist primarily of salaries

and benefits, contractor fees, clinical drug supplies for preclinical and clinical development programs,

consumable research supplies and allocated facility and administrative costs. 

Income Taxes: The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.

Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between

the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates

in effect for years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance 

is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be 

realized. Research and development tax credits will be recognized as a reduction of the provision for

income taxes when realized. 

Revenue Recognition: Revenue from the sale of products is recognized upon product shipment.

Provisions for discounts for early payments, rebates and sales returns under terms customary in the

industry are provided for in the same period the related sales are recorded. Revenue under research

contracts is recorded as earned under the contracts, as services are provided. In accordance with 

SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104 upfront nonrefundable fees associated with license and

development agreements where the Company has continuing involvement in the agreement, are recorded

as deferred revenue and recognized over the estimated service period. If the estimated service period 

is subsequently modified, the period over which the up-front fee is recognized is modified accordingly 

on a prospective basis. 

SAB No. 104 updates the guidance in SAB No. 101 and requires companies to identify separate

units of accounting based on the consensus reached on Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.
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00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (“EITF 00-21”). EITF 00-21 provides guidance

on how to determine when an arrangement that involves multiple revenue-generating activities or deliverables

should be divided into separate units of accounting for revenue recognition purposes, and if this division

is required, how the arrangement consideration should be allocated among the separate units of

accounting. EITF 00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in quarters beginning after

June 15, 2003. If the deliverables in a revenue arrangement constitute separate units of accounting

according to the EITF’s separation criteria, the revenue-recognition policy must be determined for each

identified unit. If the arrangement is a single unit of accounting under the separation criteria, the revenue-

recognition policy must be determined for the entire arrangement. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not

impact the Company’s historical consolidated financial position or results of operations, but could affect

the timing or pattern of revenue recognition for future collaborative research and/or license agreements.

Prior to the adoption of EITF 00-21, revenues from the achievement of research and development 

milestones, which represent the achievement of a significant step in the research and development

process, were recognized when and if the milestones were achieved. 

Continuation of certain contracts and grants are dependent upon the Company achieving specific

contractual milestones; however, none of the payments received to date are refundable regardless of 

the outcome of the project. Grant revenue is recognized in accordance with the terms of the grant and 

as services are performed, and generally equals the related research and development expense.

Stock-Based Compensation: The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method of accounting

prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees,” and related interpretations, in accounting for its fixed stock option plans. As such, 

compensation expense for grants to employees or members of the Board of Directors would be recorded

on the date of grant only if the current market price of the Company’s stock exceeded the exercise price.

SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), as amended, establishes

accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based

employee compensation plans. As permitted under SFAS 123, the Company has elected to continue to

apply the intrinsic value-based method of accounting described above, and has adopted the disclosure

requirements of SFAS No. 123, as amended.

If the exercise price of employee or director stock options is less than the fair value of the underlying

stock on the grant date, the Company amortizes such differences to expense over the vesting period of

the options. Options or stock awards issued to non-employees and consultants are recorded at fair value

as determined in accordance with SFAS 123 and EITF No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments 

That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or

Services,” and expensed over the related vesting period.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share as if

the fair value-based method under SFAS No. 123 had been applied.

2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders:

As reported $13,511 $(100,000) $0(1,912)

Add stock-based employee compensation expense 

included in reported net income (loss) 250 1,515 2,675

Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expense

determined under the fair value-based method for all awards (21,226) (19,616) (25,665)

Pro forma $((7,465) $0(118,01) $(24,902)

Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic, as reported $000.17 $000(1.29) $00(0.03)

Basic, pro forma (0.09) (1.53) (0.33)

Diluted, as reported 0.16 (1.29) (0.03)

Diluted, pro forma (0.09) (1.53) (0.33)
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The pro forma effects on net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders and net income

(loss) per common share for 2003, 2002 and 2001 may not be representative of the pro forma effects

in future years.

The weighted-average fair value per share was $14.53, $8.13 and $9.83 for stock options granted

in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company estimated the fair values using the Black-Scholes

option-pricing model based on the following assumptions:

2003 2002 2001

Risk-free interest rate 2.39% 2.02% 3.52%

Expected stock price volatility 52.5% 58% 57%

Expected term until exercise (years) 3.50% 2.89% 2.81%

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income

(loss) available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding

during the period. Diluted earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available

to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the 

period increased to include all additional common shares that would have been outstanding assuming

potentially dilutive common shares had been issued and any proceeds thereof used to repurchase 

common stock at the average market price during the period. The proceeds used to repurchase common

stock are assumed to be the sum of the amount to be paid to the Company upon exercise of options,

the amount of compensation cost attributed to future services and not yet recognized and, if applicable,

the amount of income taxes that would be credited to or deducted from capital upon exercise.

Comprehensive Income (Loss): Comprehensive income (loss), which represents the change in equity

from non-owner sources, consists of net income (losses) and the change in net unrealized gains (losses)

on marketable securities classified as available for sale. Comprehensive income (loss) is presented in

the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity.

Capitalized Software Costs: Capitalized software costs are capitalized in accordance with Statement

of Position No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed and Obtained for Internal

Use, and are amortized over their estimated useful life of three years from the date the systems are

ready for their intended use. 

Asset Retirement Obligations: On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting

for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS 143”). SFAS 143 addresses the financial accounting and

reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated

asset retirement costs. SFAS 143 applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived

assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or normal use of an asset. SFAS

143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period

in which it is incurred. The fair value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the associated

asset and is depreciated over the life of the asset. The liability is accreted at the end of each period

through charges to operating expense. If the obligation is ultimately settled for an amount other than the

carrying amount of the liability, a gain or loss is recognized on settlement. In connection with its adoption

of SFAS 143, the Company recorded an asset retirement liability of approximately $0.2 million relating 

to the Company’s obligation to remove certain leasehold improvements at its Warren, New Jersey facility

at the end of the lease-term. The Company did not recognize a cumulative effect adjustment for this

accounting change because the amount was immaterial.
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Anthrogenesis Acquisition: On December 31, 2002, the Company completed its acquisition of

Anthrogenesis Corp., which now operates as Celgene Cellular Therapeutics, for an aggregate purchase

price of approximately $60.0 million. Anthrogenesis is an early-stage biotherapeutics company delivering

stem cell therapies produced from renewable human placental sources/materials. The Company

acquired Anthrogenesis to realize the substantial therapeutic and commercial potential of placental stem

cells through its commercial and developmental infrastructure. In the transaction, the Company issued

1,455,381 shares of common stock valued at $31.2 million and 1,247,203 stock options and warrants

valued at $16.7 million in exchange for all the outstanding shares, options and warrants of

Anthrogenesis. The share conversion equated to an exchange ratio of 0.4545 of a share of Celgene 

common stock for each share of Anthrogenesis common stock outstanding. The Anthrogenesis stock

options and warrants were converted at the same exchange ratio. The fair value of the options and 

warrants was determined using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the following assumptions:

Fair market value of the underlying shares was based on the average closing price of 

Celgene’s common stock on December 31, 2002.

Risk free interest rate of 2%.                      

Expected stock price volatility of 65%.            

Expected term until exercise 2.5 to 3 years. 

Expected dividend yield 0%. 

Also included in the purchase price was an outstanding convertible loan of $8.5 million due to 

the Company from Anthrogenesis, bearing interest at prime plus 2%, and $3.6 million of acquisition 

related costs, which consisted of transaction fees for financial advisors, attorneys, accountants and

other related charges.

The acquisition of Anthrogenesis was structured as a tax-free reorganization under Section 368(a) 

of the Internal Revenue Code and was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting for 

business combinations. The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2002

includes the net assets and liabilities of Anthrogenesis. The purchase price allocation was completed 

as of December 31, 2003, which resulted in the following amounts being allocated to the assets

received and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date based upon their respective fair values: 

Current assets $02,720

Property and equipment 537

Non current assets 9

IPR&D 55,700

Intangible assets 3,010

Goodwill 3,490

Total assets acquired 65,466

Current liabilities (4,220)

Non current liabilities (1,211)

Total liabilities assumed (5,431)

Net assets acquired $60,035

IPR&D represents that portion of the purchase price of an acquisition related to the research 

and development activities, which have not demonstrated their technological feasibility and have no 

alternative future use. Accordingly, the IPR&D of $55.7 million was charged to operations upon the 

acquisition date. The estimated fair value of these projects was determined by employment of a 

discounted cash flow model. The discount rates used take into account the stage of completion and 

2. Acquisitions and
Dispositions
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the risks surrounding the successful development and commercialization of each of the purchased 

in-process technology projects that were valued. The analysis included forecasted future cash flows that

were expected to result from the progress made on the in-process project prior to the purchase dates.

Appropriate operating expenses were deducted from the total forecasted net revenues to establish a

forecast of net returns on the completed portion of the in-process technology. Finally, these net returns

were discounted to a present value using discount rates that incorporate the weighted average cost of

capital relative to the biotech industry and the Company as well as product specific risks associated with

the purchased in-process research and development products. The product specific risk factors included

the product’s phase of development, likelihood of success, manufacturing process capability, scientific

rationale, pre-clinical safety and efficacy data, target product profile, and development plan. In addition

to the product specific risk factors, an overall discount rate of 36% was used for the purchase valuation,

which represents a risk premium to the Company’s weighted average cost of capital.

The forecast data in the analysis was based on internal product level forecast information maintained

by management in the ordinary course of managing the business. The inputs used by management in

analyzing IPR&D was based on assumptions, which management believed to be reasonable but which

are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. These assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and 

no assurance can be given that unanticipated events and circumstances will not occur.

The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of consolidated results of 

operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 as if the acquisition of Anthrogenesis 

had occurred on January 1, 2002 and January 1, 2001, respectively. The unaudited pro forma net loss

and net loss per share amounts for both years includes a charge for in-process research and development

of approximately $55.7 million, which was expensed at the acquisition date and also includes an 

adjustment to reflect amortization of intangibles recorded in conjunction with the acquisition. The 

unaudited pro forma results of operations is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily

indicative of the operating results that would have occurred if the transaction had been consummated at

the date indicated, nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results of the combined companies

and should not be construed as representative of these amounts for any future dates or periods.

Anthrogenesis’ results of operations included in the following pro forma financial information are derived

from their unaudited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002 and their audited 

financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Pro forma 2002 2001

Total revenues $138,000 $115,521

Net (loss) (112,897) (63,930)

Net (loss) per share $00,(1.43) $00,(0.83)

Disposition of Chiral Intermediates Business: In January 1998, the Company completed the sale 

of its chiral intermediate business to Cambrex Corporation. The Company received $7.5 million upon 

the closing of the transaction and is entitled to future royalties, with a present value not exceeding 

$7.5 million and certain minimum royalty payments due in 2000 through 2003. Included in the 

transaction were the rights to Celgene’s enzymatic technology for the production of chirally pure 

intermediates for the pharmaceutical industry, including the pipeline of third party products and the

equipment and personnel associated with the business. Pursuant to the minimum royalty provision 

of the agreement, the Company received approximately $0.8 million, $1.0 million and $1.0 million 

during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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2003 2002 2001

Income (Numerator):

Income (loss) from continuing operations $12,761 $(101,000) $(2,904)

Discontinued Operations - gain on sale of chiral assets 750 1,000 992

Net income (loss) $13,511 $(100,000) $(1,912)

Weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding (Denominator):

Basic: 80,887,000 77,337,000 75,108,000

Effect of dilutive securities:

Options 4,370,000 — —

Warrants 93,000 — —

Restricted shares and other long-term incentives 48,000 — —

Diluted: 85,398,000 77,337,000 75,108,000

Earnings Per Share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations

Basic $000.16 $000(1.31) $0(0.04)

Diluted $000.15 $000(1.31) $0(0.04)

Discontinued Operations - gain on sale of chiral assets

Basic $000.01 $000(0.01 $0(0.01

Diluted $000.01 $000(0.01 $0(0.01

Net income (loss)

Basic $000.17 $000(1.29) $0(0.03)

Diluted $000.16 $000(1.29) $0(0.03)

The assumed conversion or exercise of all potentially dilutive common shares is not included in 

the diluted loss per share computation for 2002 and 2001, since the Company recognized a net loss 

for those periods and including potentially dilutive common shares in the diluted earnings per share 

computation when there is a net loss will result in an anti-dilutive per share amount. The potential 

common shares related to the convertible notes issued June 3, 2003 (see Note 9) were anti-dilutive 

and were excluded from the diluted earnings per share computation for the year ended December 31,

2003. The total number of potential common shares excluded from the diluted earnings per share 

computation because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive was 10,564,360, 11,046,271 and

10,128,670 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. 

On December 31, 2002, the Company entered into a series of agreements with EntreMed, Inc. and

Children’s Medical Center Corporation (“CMCC”) to effectively terminate ongoing litigation relating to

patents for thalidomide analogs and to grant an exclusive license to Celgene for the rights to those

patents. Under the terms of an Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company paid EntreMed $10.0 million

for all thalidomide analog patents and associated clinical data and records and the termination of any 

litigation surrounding those patents. Under the terms of a Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company

acquired from EntreMed 3,350,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and warrants exercisable

into an additional 7,000,000 common shares for an aggregate cash consideration of approximately

$16.8 million. The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible, at the option of the Company, 

into an aggregate of 16,750,000 shares of common stock at an initial conversion price of $1.00 per

share provided, however, that the conversion price in effect from time to time shall be subject to certain

adjustments. Dividends are payable prior and in preference to the declaration or payment of any dividend

or distribution to the holders of common stock. The Company shall have the right to one vote for each

4. Litigation
Settlement and
Related Agreements

3. Earnings Per
Share (EPS)
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share of Common Stock into which such share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock could then be

converted and with respect to such vote the Company shall have full voting rights and powers equal to

the voting rights and powers of the holders of shares of Common Stock. The warrants have an exercise

price of $1.50 per share, vest after six months from the date of grant and expire after seven years from

the date of grant. The Company completed an assessment of the estimated realizable value of the

investment. Considering the level of the Company’s ownership interest in EntreMed, its history of operating

losses and the fact that EntreMed is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company engaged primarily in

research and development activities with proposed products and research programs in the early stage 

of clinical development, and based on such assessment, the entire amount of such Preferred Stock 

was written down.

The Company signed an exclusive license agreement with CMCC, which terminated any existing

thalidomide analog agreements between CMCC and EntreMed and directly granted to Celgene an 

exclusive worldwide license for the analog patents. The Company paid to CMCC $2.5 million under 

the agreement with another $2.5 million payable between 2004 and 2006, the present value of which

totaled $2.2 million and was expensed in 2002. Additional payments are possible under the agreement

depending on the successful development and commercialization of thalidomide analogs. 

Celgene recorded a charge to earnings for the cost of these agreements and related expenses of

$32.2 million in 2002 including the write-down of the EntreMed Convertible Preferred Stock and certain

legal expenses incurred in connection with the settlement.

The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses and fair value of

available-for-sale securities by major security type and class of security at December 31, 2003 and

2002, was as follows:
Gross Gross Estimated

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2003 Cost Gain Loss Value

Government agencies 

mortgage obligations $188,319 $01,053 $0((186) $189,186

Government agency bonds and notes 650 1 (5) 646

Corporate debt securities 199,933 9,977 (228) 209,682

$388,902 $11,031 $0((419) $399,514

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 2002 Cost Gain Loss Value

Government agencies $000,150 $000,02 $000(— $000(152

Government bonds and notes 554 5 — 559

Corporate debt securities 167,975 9,429 (2,408) 174,996

$168,679 $09,436 $(2,408) $175,707

5. Marketable
Securities
Available for Sale
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The fair value of available-for-sale securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2003 was as

follows
Gross

Amortized Unrealized
December 31, 2003 Cost Loss

Government agencies mortgage obligations $48,784 $(186)

Government agency bonds and notes 345 (5)

Corporate debt securities 47,837 (228)

$96,966 $(419)

Unrealized losses were due to changes in interest rates and are deemed to be temporary. 

The duration that these securities have been in an unrealized loss position is less than 12 months. 

Duration of debt securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows at December 31, 2003: 

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

Due within one year $065,659 $065,831

Due after one year through three years 200,822 207,496

Due after three years through five years 14,667 15,064

Due after five years through seven years 73,628 74,884

Due after seven years 34,126 36,239

$388,902 $399,514

Inventory at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consisted of the following:

2003 2002

Raw materials $3,009 $2,681

Work in process 2,537 555

Finished goods 4,150 1,570

$9,696 $4,806

Plant and equipment at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consisted of the following:

2003 2002

Laboratory equipment and machinery $18,977 $16,307

Leasehold improvements 11,688 10,915

Computer equipment 4,986 3,945

Furniture and fixtures 3,124 3,457

Leased equipment 696 1,090

Construction in progress 1,017 388

40,488 36,102

Less: accumulated depreciation and Amortization 17,942 16,502

$22,546 $19,600

7. Plant and
Equipment

6. Inventory
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Accrued expenses at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consisted of the following:

2003 2002

Professional and consulting fees $02,451 $02,950

Accrued compensation 18,383 11,579

Accrued interest, royalties and license fees 9,470 3,852

Accrued sales returns 8,368 2,783

Accrued rebates and chargebacks 5,089 1,946

Accrued facility costs — 2,445

Accrued clinical trial costs 9,182 525

Accrued insurance and taxes 1,227 —

Other 1,106 896

$55,276 $26,976

Other assets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consisted of the following:

2003 2002

Pharmion convertible note $12,000 $000—

Debt issuance costs 10,790 —

Capitalized project costs, net 4,490 4,234

Long-term deposits 2,293 132

Patent rights and licensed technology, net 765 860

Other 2,168 382

$32,506 $5,608

Warehousing and distribution expenses are included in selling, general and administrative expenses

and totaled $3.9 million, $3.5 million and $5.4 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

In June 2003, the Company issued $400.0 million of unsecured convertible notes to qualified 

institutional investors. The notes have a five-year term and a coupon rate of 1.75% payable semi-annually

commencing December 1, 2003. The notes have a conversion rate of $48.45 per share, which represents a

50% premium to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on May 28, 2003. The debt issuance

costs related to these notes, which totaled approximately $12.2 million, are classified under “Other

Assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheet and are being amortized over five years, assuming no 

conversion. Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the note holders can convert the notes at any

time into 8,255,920 shares of common stock at the conversion price, and also have the right to require

the Company to redeem the notes prior to maturity in the event of a “fundamental change”, as defined

within the Agreement. The Company is required to register the notes and common stock issuable upon

conversion with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and to use reasonable best efforts to keep

the related registration statement effective for the defined period. The Company may not merge or 

transfer substantially all assets, as defined, unless certain conditions are met.

At December 31, 2003, the fair value of the Company’s convertible notes exceeded the carrying

value of $400.0 million by approximately $78.1 million.

During 2002, the remaining notes outstanding related to the Company’s January 1999 and July

1999 convertible debt issuances, which had an aggregate carrying value of $11.7 million were converted

into 1,864,549 shares of the Company’s common stock.  

On September 26, 2000, the Company entered into an agreement with the note holders of the

January 1999 and the July 1999 notes that allows the note holders to take a “short position” in the

8. Other Financial 
Information

9. Convertible Debt
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common stock (as defined in the respective Note Purchase Agreements) of the Company with certain 

limitations on transactions resulting in a “short position” based upon the level of the stock price. In

exchange for the Company consenting to waive the provisions that prohibit short sales, the note holders

waived the right to the receipt of any interest after the effective date of August 24, 2000.

Goodwill: The amount of goodwill originally recorded in connection with the December 31, 2002

acquisition of Anthrogenesis was $3.0 million. Subsequently, certain purchase price allocation adjustments

were made based on the fair value of the assets received and liabilities assumed. The purchase price

allocation process was completed as of December 31, 2003, which has resulted in goodwill being

adjusted to $3.5 million. The goodwill from the Anthrogenesis acquisition has been allocated to the

Company’s Stem Cell Therapy segment and is reviewed at least annually for impairment.

Intangible Assets: The Company’s intangible assets, which relate to its December 31, 2002 

acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corporation, are being amortized over their estimated useful lives. The

gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization, by major intangible asset class at December 31,

2003 was as follows:
Gross Intangible

carrying Accumulated assets,
value amortization net

Supplier relationships $0,710 $142 $0,568

Customer lists 1,700 113 1,587

Technology 600 60 540

Total $3,010 $315 $2,695

Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $0.3 million.

Assuming no changes in the gross carrying amount of intangible assets, the amortization of intangible

assets for the next five fiscal years is estimated to be approximately $0.3 million for the years 2004

through 2007 and $0.2 million for 2008. 

Axys Pharmaceutical was treated as a related party though October 2001, as its previous Chief

Executive Officer also served on Signal Pharmaceutical’s Board of Directors during which time Signal 

and Axys entered into a collaboration agreement, which was executed prior to the Company’s acquisition

of Signal. The initial term of that agreement expired in October 2001. Therefore revenue recognized 

subsequent to October 2001 is no longer classified as related party revenue. Related party revenue 

of $1.9 million related to this agreement was recorded in 2001. No revenues were received from 

Axys Pharmaceutical in 2003 or 2002.

Prior to the Company’s acquisition of Anthrogenesis, two senior executives of the Company served

on the Board of Directors of Anthrogenesis, during which time the Company entered into the following

transactions with Anthrogenesis: 

In April 2001, the Company entered into a license and development agreement with Anthrogenesis

for the development of a human angiogenesis assay system for screening the effect of certain molecules

on the process of neovascularization. The Company paid approximately $0.3 million for a one-year 

exclusive, royalty-free license to all assay system technology. This payment was expensed upon the 

signing of the agreement.

In December 2001, the Company entered into a second development agreement with Anthrogenesis

for a period of one year which required Anthrogenesis to perform certain development work on several 

of the Company’s compounds. The Company recorded a development fee of $0.3 million, which was

amortized over the term of the agreement. 

10. Goodwill and
Intangible Assets

11. Related Party
Transactions
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Preferred Stock: The Board of Directors is authorized to issue, at any time, without further 

stockholder approval, up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, and to determine the price, rights, 

privileges, and preferences of such shares.

Common Stock: The Company has 120,000,000 authorized shares of common stock with a 

par value of $.01 per share, of which 81,411,055 shares were outstanding at December 31, 2003. 

A summary of changes in common stock issued and treasury stock is presented below:

Common Stock
Balance December 31, Common Stock in Treasury

2000 73,999,889 — 

Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,544,625 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans and 

non-employee services 30,271 

Purchase of treasury stock (282)

2001 75,574,785 (282)

Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,246,600 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 35,398 1,160 

Purchase of treasury stock (878)

Conversion of long-term convertible notes 1,864,549 

Shares issued pursuant to Anthrogenesis Acquisition 1,455,381 

2002 80,176,713 — 

Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,105,074 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 129,268 

2003 81,411,055 — 

Rights Plan: During 1996, the Company adopted a shareholder rights plan (“Rights Plan”). 

The Rights Plan involves the distribution of one Right as a dividend on each outstanding share of the

Company’s common stock to each holder of record on September 26, 1996. Each Right shall entitle the

holder to purchase one-tenth of a share of common stock. The Rights trade in tandem with the common

stock until, and are exercisable upon, certain triggering events, and the exercise price is based on the

estimated long-term value of the Company’s common stock. In certain circumstances, the Rights Plan

permits the holders to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a discounted rate. The

Company’s Board of Directors retains the right at all times prior to acquisition of 15% of the Company’s

voting common stock by an acquiror, to discontinue the Rights Plan through the redemption of all rights

or to amend the Rights Plan in any respect. On February 17, 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors

approved an amendment to the Rights Plan changing the initial exercise price thereunder from $100.00

per Right (as defined in the original Rights Plan agreement) to $700.00 per Right and extending the 

final expiration date of the Rights Plan to February 17, 2010. On August 13, 2003, the Rights Plan was

amended to permit a qualified institutional investor to beneficially own up to 17% of the Company’s 

common stock outstanding without being deemed an “acquiring person,” if such institutional investor

meets certain requirements. 

12. Stockholders’ 
Equity
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Stock Options and Restricted Stock Awards: The Company has two equity incentive plans (the 

“Incentive Plans”) that provide for the granting of options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation

rights, performance awards and other stock-based awards to employees and officers of the Company 

to purchase not more than an aggregate of 4,200,000 shares of common stock under the 1992 plan

and 12,500,000 shares of common stock under the 1998 plan, as amended, subject to adjustment

under certain circumstances. The Management Compensation and Development Committee of the 

Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee”) determines the type, amount and terms, including

vesting, of any awards made under the Incentive Plans. The 1992 Plan terminated in 2002 and the

1998 Plan will terminate in 2008.

With respect to options granted under the Incentive Plans, the exercise price may not be less 

than the market price of the common stock on the date of grant. In general, options granted under 

the Incentive Plans vest over periods ranging from immediate vesting to four year vesting and expire 

ten years from the date of grant, subject to earlier expiration in case of termination of employment. 

The vesting period for options and restricted stock awards granted under the Plans is subject to certain

acceleration provisions if a change in control, as defined in the Plans, occurs.

As a result of the Signal acquisition, the Company assumed the former Signal stock option 

plans. The options issued pursuant to the former Signal plans converted into Celgene options upon 

consummation of the transaction at a .1257-for-1 exchange ratio. No additional options will be granted

from the former Signal plans. 

As a result of the acquisition of Anthrogenesis, the Company assumed the former Anthrogenesis

Qualified Employee Incentive Stock Option Plan and the Anthrogenesis Non-Qualified Recruiting and

Retention Stock Option Plan. Options granted under the Anthrogenesis plans prior to Celgene’s acquisition

of Anthrogenesis generally vested immediately and have a life of ten years from the date of grant. The

Anthrogenesis options converted into Celgene options at an exchange ratio of .4545. No future awards

will be granted under the Non-Qualified Plan. The Qualified Plan authorizes the award of incentive stock

options, which are stock options that qualify for special federal income tax treatment. The exercise price

of any stock options granted under the Qualified Plan may not be less than the fair market value of the

common stock on the date of grant. In general, options granted under the Qualified Plan vest evenly 

over a four-year period and expire ten years from the date of grant, subject to earlier expiration in case 

of termination of employment. The vesting period is subject to certain acceleration provisions if a change

in control occurs. No award will be granted under the Qualified Plan on or after December 31, 2008.

Stock options granted to executives at the vice-president level and above, after September 18,

2000, contain a reload feature which provides that if (1) the optionee exercises all or any portion of the

stock option (a) at least six months prior to the expiration of the stock option, (b) while employed by the

Company and (c) prior to the expiration date of the 1998 Incentive Plan and (2) the optionee pays the

exercise price for the portion of the stock option exercised or pays applicable withholding taxes by using

common stock owned by the optionee for at least six months prior to the date of exercise, the optionee

shall be granted a new stock option under the 1998 Incentive Plan on the date all or any portion of the

stock option is exercised to purchase the number of shares of common stock equal to the number of

shares of common stock exchanged by the optionee to exercise the stock option or to pay withholding

taxes thereon. The reload stock option will be exercisable on the same terms and conditions as apply to

the original stock option except that (x) the reload stock option will become exercisable in full on the day

which is six months after the date the original stock option is exercised, (y) the exercise price shall be

the fair market value (as defined in the 1998 Incentive Plan) of the common stock on the date the reload

stock option is granted and (z) the expiration of the reload stock option will be the date of expiration of

the original stock option. An optionee may not reload the reload stock option unless otherwise permitted

by the Company’s Compensation Committee. As of December 31, 2003, the Company has issued

2,192,075 stock options to executives that contain the reload features noted above, of which

2,153,375 are still outstanding.

13. Stock Based
Compensation
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In June 1995, the stockholders of the Company approved the 1995 Non-Employee Directors’

Incentive Plan, which, as amended, provides for the granting of non-qualified stock options to purchase

an aggregate of not more than 1,800,000 shares of common stock (subject to adjustment under certain

circumstances) to directors of the Company who are not officers or employees of the Company 

(“Non-Employee Directors”). Each new Non-Employee Director, upon the date of election or appointment,

receives an option to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock, which vest in four equal annual 

installments commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Additionally, upon the date of 

each annual meeting of stockholders, each continuing Non-Employee Director receives an option to 

purchase 10,000 shares of common stock (or a pro rata portion thereof for service less than one year),

which vest in full on the date of the first annual meeting of stockholders held following the date of grant.

As amended in 2003, continuing Non-Employee Director receive quarterly grants of 2,500 options 

aggregating 10,000 options annually, instead of receiving one annual grant of 10,000 options and 

vesting occurs one-year from the date of grant instead of on the date of the first annual meeting of 

stockholders held following the date of grant. The 1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Incentive Plan also 

provides for a discretionary grant upon the date of each annual meeting of an additional option to 

purchase up to 5,000 shares to a non-employee director who serves as a member (but not a chairman)

of a committee of the Board of Directors and up to 10,000 shares to a non-employee director who

serves as the chairman of a committee of the Board of Directors. All options are granted at an exercise

price that equals the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date and expire 

10 years after the date of grant. This plan terminates in 2005.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the aforementioned Plans:

Shares Options outstanding

available Weighted average
Balance December 31, for grant Shares exercise price per share

2000 2,531,945 7,947,687 $20.05

Authorized 2,000,000 — —

Expired — — —

Granted (1,111,450) 1,111,450 26.04

Exercised — (1,304,960) 4.74

Canceled 457,249 (457,249) 34.49

Repurchases 190 — —

2001 3,877,934 7,296,928 $22.80

Authorized — — —

Expired (73,706) — —

Granted (3,204,884) 3,204,884 21.13

Exercised — (279,117) 5.58

Canceled 423,627 (423,627) 30.19

Repurchases 721 — —

Assumed on acquisition 137,031 1,030,364 11.37

2002 1,160,723 10,829,432 $21.37

Authorized 4,000,000 — —

Expired (308,857) — —

Granted (2,424,027) 2,424,027 36.60

Exercised — (1,041,618) 10.69

Canceled 172,826 (200,092) 26.78

2003 2,600,665 12,011,749 $25.28
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The following table summarizes information concerning options outstanding under the Incentive

Plans at December 31, 2003:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average

Range of Number exercise remaining Number exercise
exercise prices outstanding price term (yrs.) exercisable price

$0.15 – 03.50 620,134 $02.25 3.8 620,134 $02.25

03.51 – 06.00 2,025,517 5.17 4.6 2,025,517 5.17

06.01 – 24.00 2,844,467 17.39 8.1 2,710,456 17.17

24.01 – 30.00 2,998,939 25.98 7.2 2,549,391 26.05

30.01 – 50.00 2,397,392 38.38 9.2 2,127,242 38.47

50.01 – 70.00 1,125,300 64.33 6.6 914,599 64.23

12,011,749 $25.28 7.1 10,947,339 $24.25

The Company recorded compensation expense of $1.3 million and $2.5 million in 2002 and 2001,

respectively, related to options granted under the former Signal plans at exercise prices below the 

market price of the underlying stock at the date of grant. During 2002 and 2001, the Company reversed

deferred compensation by $0.8 million and $0.3 million, respectively, as a result of option holder 

terminations. At December 31, 2002 deferred compensation was zero. 

During 2001, the Company issued to certain employees an aggregate of 52,500 restricted stock

awards. Such restricted stock awards will vest on September 19, 2006, unless certain conditions are

met prior to such date. The fair value of these restricted stock awards at the grant date was $1.4 million

and is being amortized as compensation expense over the contractual vesting period. During 2003,

2002 and 2001, the Company recorded compensation expense relating to these restricted stock awards

of $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively, which was classified as selling, general and

administrative expenses. 

Former non-employee directors of Signal, who entered into consulting agreements with Celgene

effective August 31, 2000, held unvested stock options to purchase an aggregate of 36,457 shares of

the Company’s common stock. As a result, the Company recorded compensation expense based on the

fair value of such options, which is being recognized over the remaining vesting period for such options.

During 2003, 2002 and 2001 the Company recorded compensation expense relating to stock, stock

options or warrants issued to consultants, advisors or financial institutions of $0.5 million, $0.2 million

and $0.9 million, respectively. 

Warrants: In connection with its acquisition of Anthrogenesis, the Company assumed the

Anthrogenesis warrants outstanding, which converted into 216,839 Celgene warrants. Anthrogenesis 

had issued warrants to investors at exercise prices equivalent to the per share price of their investment.

As of December 31, 2003, Celgene had 144,307 warrants outstanding to acquire an equivalent number

of shares of Celgene common stock at an average exercise price of $11.90 per warrant.

In connection with the placement of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock in June 1997, the

Company issued warrants to purchase 1,557,690 shares of common stock at an exercise price of 

$2.50 per share with a term of four years from the issuance date, which ended on June 1, 2002. 

In May 2002, the remaining 967,693 warrants were exercised and the equivalent number of common

shares were issued. As of December 31, 2002, there were no warrants outstanding.

The Company sponsors an investment savings plan, which qualifies under Section 401(k) of the

Internal Revenue Code. The Company’s contributions to the savings plan are discretionary and have 

historically been made in the form of the Company’s common stock. Such contributions are based on

specified percentages of employee contributions and aggregated a total expense charged to operations

of $4.2 million in 2003, $2.9 million in 2002 and $1.4 million in 2001.

14. Employee 
Benefit Plans
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During 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a deferred compensation plan effective

September 1, 2000. Eligible participants, which include certain top-level executives of the Company 

as specified by the plan, can elect to defer up to 25% of the participant’s base salary, 100% of cash

bonuses and restricted stock and stock options gains (both subject to a minimum deferral of 50% of

each award of restricted stock or stock option gain approved by the Committee for deferral). Company

contributions to the deferred compensation plan represent a 100% match of the participant’s deferral up

to a specified percentage (ranging from 10% to 25%, depending on the employee’s position as specified

in the plan) of the participant’s base salary. The Company recorded expense of $0.7 million, $0.4 million

and $0.4 million associated with the matching of the deferral of compensation in 2003, 2002 and 2001,

respectively. All amounts are 100% vested at all times, except with respect to restricted stock, which will

not be vested until the date the applicable restrictions lapse. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the

Company had a deferred compensation liability included in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated

balance sheets of approximately $4.9 million and $2.7 million, respectively, which included the participant’s

elected deferral of salaries and bonuses, the Company’s matching contribution and earnings on deferred

amounts as of that date. The plan provides participants eight investment options for amounts they elect

to defer. Such options include a combination of funds that offer the investor the option to spread their

risk across a diverse group of investments. These investment choices include an equity and equity index

fund, a bond fund, a fund that is balanced between equities and bonds, a fund that invests worldwide, 

a growth fund and a fund that invests in mid to large cap companies and seeks capital appreciation.

In 2003, the Company adopted a Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”). The LTIP is a long-term 

performance plan that provides for payouts in cash or stock, at the election of the Company. Under 

the plan, eligible employees may receive a payout based on a percentage of their base salary, which 

the Company may then elect to convert into shares of the Company’s common stock based on the fair

market value of the Company’s stock on the date of payout. The LTIP is administered through the

Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, who establishes the performance measures at the

beginning of each plan year for eligible senior executives. The actual payout is contingent on meeting

stated performance targets over three-year overlapping performance periods. Moreover, participation in

the LTIP is not guaranteed in each plan cycle and, if minimum performance targets are not met, no 

payouts are made. Through December 31, 2003, the Company recognized expense of $0.5 million in

LTIP accruals for the 2003 to 2005 incentive plan period based on an estimated achievement of 75% of

the target measures. Payouts may be in the range of 0% to 200% and the maximum potential payout is

$6.1 million for the 2003 to 2005 period. After performance results are determined the earned award, 

if any, will be calculated for each participant and converted into shares of the Company’s common stock

based on the then current market price of the Company’s stock or paid in cash, at the Company’s election.

Upon a change in control, participants will be entitled to an immediate payment equal to their target

award, or, if higher, an award based on actual performance through the date of the change in control.

Gelclair™ Co-Promotion Agreement: In October 2002, the Company entered into an agreement with

Cell Pathways, Inc. for the co-promotion of Gelclair™, primarily in the U.S. oncology market. Subsequently,

on June 12, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with OSI Pharmaceuticals Inc., which

acquired Cell Pathways, Inc. in June 2003, to terminate the aforementioned agreement. The effective

date of the termination agreement is July 1, 2003 and under that agreement, the Company received

$3.0 million in July 2003, upon the transfer of promotional materials as specified in the agreement, 

and is entitled to receive an additional $3.0 million on the first anniversary of the effective date based

on the Company’s successful completion of certain transitional services through December 31, 2003,

as defined in the agreement. The aggregate revenue of $6.0 million was recognized as collaborative 

agreement revenue on a straight-line basis over the six-month service period ended December 31, 2003.

Under the agreement, the Company may also receive a milestone payment upon the achievement of a

specified amount of Gelclair net sales.

15. Sponsored Research,
License and 
Other Agreements
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Pharmion: In November 2001, the Company entered into a license agreement with Pharmion

Corporation and Pharmion GmbH (“Pharmion”) in which the Company granted an exclusive royalty-bearing

license for its intellectual property covering thalidomide and S.T.E.P.S.® in all countries outside of North

America, Japan, China, Taiwan and Korea in exchange for licensing payments and upon regulatory

approvals royalties based on commercial sales. The agreement terminates upon the tenth anniversary 

of the initial European regulatory approval of thalidomide, and pursuant to the agreement, the Company

is entitled to receive $0.3 million on a quarterly basis beginning in December 2001, until the initial

European regulatory approval is received. In April 2003, the Company entered into an amendment to 

the aforementioned agreement whereby Pharmion has agreed to provide the Company an aggregate of

$8.0 million in research funding for the further clinical development of THALOMID during the period 

commencing on the date of the amendment and ending December 31, 2005. The research funding 

consists of three installments of $1.0 million each, payable upon execution of the agreement,

September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2003, four quarterly installments of approximately $0.8 

million each payable in 2004 and four quarterly installments of $0.5 million each payable in 2005. 

The Company received the first three installments totaling $3.0 million, which was recognized as 

collaborative agreement revenue in 2003. 

In April 2003, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Pharmion whereby

Celgene purchased for $12.0 million a Senior Convertible Promissory Note (the “Note”) with a principal

amount of $12.0 million, and a warrant with a five year term to purchase up to 363,636 shares of

Pharmion’s common stock at a purchase price of $11.00 per share, adjusted for Pharmion’s four-for-one

reverse stock split. The Note has a term of five years with an annual interest rate of 6% compounded

semi-annually. The Note has a conversion price of $11.00 per share of Common Stock and is automatically

convertible into common stock under certain conditions. The Note is classified under “Other Assets” in

the Company’s balance sheet. Pharmion’s closing stock price as of December 31, 2003 was $15.25 

Novartis Pharma AG: In April 2000, the Company granted Novartis Pharma AG an exclusive 

worldwide license to develop and market d-methylphenidate (d-MPH), a chirally pure version of Ritalin.

The Company also granted Novartis rights to all its related intellectual property and patents, including

new formulations of the currently marketed Ritalin. The Company received a $10.0 million, nonrefundable,

upfront license fee payment in July 2000, which was recognized as revenue over a period of 17 months

commencing in June 2000, (i.e., the period of time management estimated it would take to fulfill its 

obligations related to obtaining FDA approval of the immediate release form of d-MPH). Accordingly, the

Company recognized approximately $5.4 million and $4.6 million of the upfront license fee as research

contract revenue in 2001 and 2000, respectively. In December 2000, the Company received acceptance

of the New Drug Application (“NDA”) by the FDA for d-MPH and received a milestone payment of $5.0 

million, which was recognized as research contract revenue in 2000. In November 2001, the Company

received FDA approval to market d-MPH and received a milestone payment of $12.5 million, which was

recognized as research contract revenue in 2001. The agreement also entitles the Company to receive

royalties on the entire family of Ritalin drugs. Costs incurred related to the agreement were approximately

$2.8 million in 2001. 

In December 2000, the Company signed a collaborative research and license agreement with

Novartis for joint research of selective estrogen receptor modulator compounds (“SERMs”) for the 

treatment and prevention of osteoporosis. The Company received a nonrefundable, upfront payment 

of $10.0 million and may be entitled to receive additional milestone payments for specific preclinical,

clinical and regulatory endpoints, as well as royalties upon commercialization of products receiving 

FDA marketing approval. The upfront payment was amortized over the two-year research period. The

Company incurred costs of approximately $0.4 million, $1.8 million and $2.1 million in 2003, 2002 

and 2001, respectively, related to this agreement and extension. The research portion of the agreement

ended in June 2003.
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Axys: In October 1999, the Company entered into a two-year collaborative research and license

agreement with Axys to develop and commercialize certain compounds. The Company received an 

initial non-refundable license fee of $2.0 million, which was amortized over the term of the agreement. 

In addition, Axys agreed to pay the Company certain amounts for the full-time equivalent personnel 

working on the research. During 2001, Axys paid $1.1 million to the Company in research funding, which

represented the approximate cost of the full-time equivalent personnel working on the related research.

This agreement was terminated in June 2001 and has not been renewed.

Serono: In November 1997, the Company entered into a three-year collaborative research, 

development and license agreement with Serono to perform research within the field of the modulation

of NF-k_. Under the terms of the agreement, Serono made quarterly payments to the Company to fund

research efforts. During 2001, Serono paid $2.8 million to the Company, which represented the 

approximate cost of the full-time equivalent personnel working on the related research. Serono 

purchased shares of Signal’s Series F Preferred Stock (which were ultimately exchanged into Celgene

shares pursuant to the Signal merger) in conjunction with the license agreement. The research term of

the agreement was extended for one year and expired in November 2001. The agreement has not been

renewed and the selected compounds have been transferred to Serono for further development, for

which the Company will receive royalties upon commercial sales of such products, if any.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred

tax assets were as follows:

2003 2002

Deferred assets:

Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards $141,379 $143,720

Capitalized research expenses 16,774 7,011

Research and experimentation tax credit carryforwards 9,154 7,686

Plant and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation 1,524 1,880

Patents, principally due to differences in amortization 5,615 5,615

Accrued and other expenses 6,686 4,802

Unrealized losses on securities 4,188 6,686

Total deferred tax assets 185,320 177,401

Valuation allowance (185,320) (177,401)

Net deferred tax assets $00000— $00000— 

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company recognized a tax benefit of $0.4 million, $0.7 million

and $1.2 million, respectively, from the sale of certain state net operating loss carryforwards. In 2003,

the Company also recognized tax expense of $1.1 million for federal and state purposes and in 2002,

the Company recognized $0.6 million for state tax purposes. Recent legislation in California and New

Jersey has placed a temporary suspension on the usage of state net operating losses to offset state

income.

A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the

deferred tax assets will not be realized. At December 31, 2003, the Company had Federal net operating

loss carryforwards of approximately $359.7 million and combined State net operating loss carryforwards

of approximately $258.2 million that will expire in the years 2004 through 2023. State net operating

loss carryforwards differ from Federal net operating loss carryforwards primarily due to the fact that the

Company sold approximately $91.2 million of its State net operating loss carryforwards through

December 31, 2003, and approximately $10.3 million has expired. The Company also has research and

experimentation credit carryforwards of approximately $9.2 million that expire in the years 2004 through

2023. Ultimate utilization/availability of such net operating losses and credits may be curtailed if a 

16. Income Taxes
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significant change in ownership occurs. Signal experienced an ownership change, as that term is defined

in section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, when it was acquired by Celgene. As such, there is an

annual limitation on the use of this Net Operating Loss in the amount of approximately $11.6 million.

Anthrogenesis also experienced an ownership change when acquired at December 31, 2002.

Approximately $8.5 million of deferred tax assets acquired in the Anthrogenesis acquisition at December

31, 2002 consisted primarily of net operating losses: as such there may be an annual limitation on the

Company’s ability to utilize the acquired net operating losses in the future. Upon realization of the

Anthrogenesis acquired tax assets, the Company will credit the benefit to the related acquired goodwill

and other intangibles.

Of the deferred tax asset related to the Federal and State net operating loss carryforwards, 

approximately $71.7 million relates to a tax deduction attributable to stock options. The Company 

will increase paid in capital when these benefits are realized for tax purposes. The Company realized

stock option deduction benefits in 2003 and 2002 for New Jersey state income tax purposes and has

increased paid in capital in the amount of approximately $0.8 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Leases: The Company leases office and research facilities under several operating lease agreements.

The minimum annual rents may be subject to specified annual rental increases. At December 31, 2003,

the non-cancelable lease terms for the operating leases expire at various dates between 2005 and 2012

and each agreement includes renewal options ranging from one or two additional three or five-year terms.

In general, the Company is also required to reimburse the lessors for real estate taxes, insurance, 

utilities, maintenance and other operating costs associated with the leases. In December 2001, the

Company entered into a new lease arrangement to consolidate the Signal San Diego, California operations

into one building. Signal completed the occupation of the new facility during the fourth quarter of 2002.

The lease obligation relating to the remaining term of the old lease arrangements, which expired on

December 31, 2003, aggregating approximately $1.0 million, was recognized as an expense in 2002

and the net book value with respect to related leasehold improvements and other unamortized assets

aggregating $1.1 million was written off during the same period. 

The Company leases certain laboratory equipment and machinery under capital lease arrangements.

Assets held under capital leases are included in plant and equipment and the amortization of these

assets is included in depreciation expense.

17. Commitments
and Contingencies



63

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases (with initial or remaining lease

terms in excess of one year) and future minimum capital lease payments as of December 31, 2003 are: 

Operating leases Capital leases

2004 $03,688 $32

2005 3,574 13

2006 3,463 2

2007 3,256 2

2008 2,979 —

Thereafter 8,945

Total minimum lease payments $25,905 $49

Less amount representing interest 3

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments 46

Less current installments of obligations under capital leases 30

Obligations under capital leases, excluding current installments $16

Total facilities rental expense under operating leases was approximately $3.9 million in 2003, 

$3.0 million in 2002, excluding the write-off of the lease obligation for the old Signal facilities, and 

$2.3 million in 2001.

Employment Agreements: The Company has employment agreements with certain officers and

employees. Employment contracts provide for base compensation and an annual target bonus based

upon achievement of Company performance measures and annual increases in base compensation

reflecting annual reviews and related salary adjustments. Base compensation expense subject to

employment agreements aggregated $2.5 million and $1.7 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The

outstanding commitment for base compensation related to employment contracts as of December 31,

2003 is approximately $2.6 million per year in each of the next three consecutive years (excluding any

change in control provisions). Employees covered under employment contracts who are terminated upon

the occurrence of a change in control may among other things be entitled to receive from the Company 

a lump sum equal to three times such employee’s base salary and bonus, payment by the Company of

such employee’s benefit premiums for three years and full and immediate vesting of all stock options

and equity awards held by such employee.

Contracts: On March 31, 2003, the Company entered into a three-year supply and distribution

agreement with GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK”) to distribute, promote and sell ALKERAN (melphalan), a therapy

approved by the FDA for the palliative treatment of multiple myeloma and for palliation of carcinoma 

of the ovary. Under the terms of the agreement, Celgene purchases ALKERAN tablets and ALKERAN for

injection from GlaxoSmithKline and distributes the products in the United States under the Celgene 

label. The agreement requires the Company to purchase certain minimum quantities each year for an 

initial three-year term under a take-or-pay arrangement aggregating $56.6 million over such period. 

The remaining minimum purchase requirements at December 31, 2003 were $43.5 million.

As discussed in Note 4, the Company signed an exclusive license agreement with CMCC, which 

terminated any existing thalidomide analog agreements between CMCC and EntreMed and directly 

granted to Celgene an exclusive worldwide license for the analog patents. Under the agreement, the

Company is required to pay CMCC $2.5 million between 2004 and 2006, the present value of which

totaled $2.2 million and was expensed in 2002. Additional payments are possible under the agreement

depending on the successful development and commercialization of thalidomide analogs.



64

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

The Company has an agreement with Penn Pharmaceutical, Ltd. of Great Britain for the production

of THALOMID. Penn manufactures THALOMID and sells it exclusively to the Company. The agreement 

has been extended through 2004 for Dedicated Containment Facilities (“DCF”) payments totaling 

approximately $0.7 million. In November 2001, concurrent with the Pharmion License agreement (see

Note 15), the Company entered into an agreement with Penn Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. and its shareholders

in which Penn granted the Company an option to purchase their thalidomide DCF and related thalidomide

assets. The Company has three years in which to exercise the option. The purchase price will be 

determined in the future based on a formula defined in the agreement.

In October 2003, the Company signed an agreement with Institute of Drug Technology Australia

Limited (“IDT”) for the manufacture of finished dosage form of THALOMID capsules. The agreement

requires minimum payments for THALOMID capsules of $4.7 million for the three-year term commencing

with the FDA’s approval of IDT as an alternate supplier. This agreement provides the Company with 

additional capacity and reduces its dependency on one manufacturer for the production of THALOMID.

The Company has entered into various service agreements with Contract Research Organizations

(“CROs”) to provide services in the management of certain pivotal clinical trials. Management services

provided by CROs typically include but are not limited to; assistance with clinical monitoring activities,

assistance with study enrollment and other management oversight activities. Pivotal clinical trials are 

currently being conducted with the following CROs; PharmaNet, Inc., Icon Clinical Research, PPD

Development, LLC and Research Pharmaceuticals Services, Inc. Service agreements with these CROs

provide that either party may early terminate such agreement by written notice to the other party.

Payments made related to services provided by the above CROs were $22.5 million in 2003 and 

$3.8 million in 2002 and are included in research and development expenses. The Company’s pivotal

clinical trials for THALOMID and REVLIMID began in 2002 and accordingly, no costs were incurred for

services provided by the above CROs in 2001. 

Contingencies: The Company believes it maintains insurance coverage adequate for its current

needs. The Company’s operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations, which impose 

limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the air and water and establish standards for the 

treatment, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes. The Company reviews the effects of

such laws and regulations on its operations and modifies its operations as appropriate. The Company

believes it is in substantial compliance with all applicable environmental laws and regulations.



65

18. Segments and 
Related Information

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Effective with its December 31, 2002 acquisition of Anthrogenesis, the Company operates in two

business segments – Human Pharmaceuticals and Stem Cell Therapies. The accounting policies of 

the segments are the same as described in the summary of significant accounting policies.

Human Pharmaceuticals: The Human Pharmaceutical segment is engaged in the discovery, 

development and commercialization of pharmaceutical therapies designed to treat cancer and 

immunological diseases. 

Stem Cell Therapies: The Stem Cell Therapies segment delivers stem cell therapies that are 

produced from renewable human placental sources and initially directed toward major, unmet medical

needs in the cancer field, with a primary focus on blood cancers such as leukemia, lymphomas and

myelomas. The segment also engages in the private client banking of autologous stem cells and the

development of an allogeneic bank for stem cell transplants.

Summarized segment information is as follows:

Human Stem Cell
Pharmaceuticals Therapies Unallocated(2) Total

2003

Total assets $113,433 $10,936 $666,967 $791,336

Total revenues 267,980 3,495 271,475

Income before income taxes(1) 30,097 (16,618) 13,479

2002

Total assets $056,793 $09,312 $261,182 $327,287

(1) Expenses incurred at the consolidated level are included in the results of the Human Pharmaceuticals segment.
(2) Unallocated corporate assets consist of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities available for sale.

Operations by Geographic Area: The Company markets and sells its products in the United States

and Canada. All of the Company’s customers are located in North America. In November 2001, the

Company entered into a license agreement with Pharmion Corporation, under which Pharmion markets

and sells THALOMID in all countries outside of North America, Japan, China, Taiwan and Korea. In addition,

the Company receives royalties from Novartis on their international sales of Ritalin and Ritalin® LA. 

Major Customers: As is typical in the pharmaceutical industry, the Company sells its products 

primarily through wholesale distributors and therefore, wholesale distributors account for a large portion

of the Company’s net product revenues. In 2003, 2002 and 2001, there were 3 customers that each

accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue. Sales to each such customer were

approximately 32.5%, 23.7% and 17.4% of consolidated total revenues in 2003, 30.9%, 16.2% and 17.1%

of consolidated total revenues in 2002 and 20.2%, 13.2% and 13.9% of consolidated total revenues in

2001. Sales to such customers were included in the results of the Human Pharmaceuticals segment. 
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19. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Year

2003(1)

Total revenue $49,089 $67,286 $74,332 $80,768 $271,475

Gross profit(2) 40,189 49,416 50,323 55,440 195,368

Income tax benefit (provision) (135) (210) (378) 5 (718)

Net income 952 2,894 4,293 5,372 13,511

Net earnings per common share – basic(3) $000.01 $000.04 $000.05 $000.07 $000.17

Net earnings per common share – diluted(3) $000.01 $000.03 $000.05 $000.06 $000.16

Weighted average number of shares of 

common stock outstanding – basic 80,384,000 80,839,000 81,047,000 81,262,000 80,887,000

Weighted average number of shares of 

common stock outstanding – diluted 83,940,000 85,134,000 86,329,000 87,122,000 85,398,000

2002

Total revenue $30,694 $33,621 $34,258 $37,173 $135,746

Gross profit(2) 23,974 26,249 26,467 28,909 105,599

Litigation settlement and related agreements — — — 32,212 32,212

Acquired in-process research and development — — — 55,700 55,700

Income tax benefit (provision) — — — 98 98

Net loss (823) (1,715) (1,037) (96,425) (100,000)

Net earnings per common share – basic(3) $0((0.01) $0((0.02) $0((0.01) $0((1.22) $00((1.31)

Net earnings per common share – diluted(3) $0((0.01) $0((0.02) $0((0.01) $0((1.22) $00((1.31)

Weighted average number of shares of common 

stock outstanding – basic 75,625,000 76,377,000 78,583,000 78,715,000 77,337,000

Weighted average number of shares of 

common stock outstanding – diluted 75,625,000 76,377,000 78,583,000 78,715,000 77,337,000

(1) Certain reclassifications have been made to the January 1, 2003 through September 30, 2003 interim periods in order to conform to the fourth
(1) quarter and full year’s presentation.
(2) Gross profit is computed by subtracting cost of goods sold from net product sales.
(3) The sum of the quarters may not equal the full year basic and diluted earnings per share since each period is calculated separately.
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